COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

NSCAD University (the "Employer")

AND

NOVA SCOTIA GOVERNMENT AND GENERAL EMPLOYEES UNION (the "Union")

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT: PREAMBLE	
ARTICLE 2 – DEFINITIONS	3
ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE 4 – RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 5 - AMALGAMATION, CONSOLIDATION AND MERGER	
ARTICLE 6 - NO DISCRIMINATION	6
ARTICLE 7 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS, DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	7
ARTICLE 8 - UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES CHECKOFF	7
ARTICLE 9 - UNION BUSINESS AND UNION REPRESENTATION	7
ARTICLE 10 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	10
ARTICLE 11 - HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 12 - HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT	12
ARTICLE 13 - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	
ARTICLE 14 - JOB POSTING	
ARTICLE 15 - RE-ASSIGNMENT	14
ARTICLE 16 - PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE	
ARTICLE 17 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE AND APPRAISAL	
ARTICLE 18 - OFFICIAL PERSONNEL FILES	
ARTICLE 19 - SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 20 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	
ARTICLE 21 - LEGAL INDEMNIFICATION	
ARTICLE 22 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
ARTICLE 23 - CONTRACTING OUT	
ARTICLE 24 - LAYOFFS AND RECALLS	
ARTICLE 25 - HOURS OF WORK	
ARTICLE 26 - RATES OF PAY	
ARTICLE 27 - OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 28 – HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 29 - VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 30 - SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 31 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 32 - PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL LEAVE	
ARTICLE 33 - DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE	
ARTICLE 34 – RESIGNATION	38
ARTICLE 35 – RETIREMENT	
ARTICLE 36 - BENEFIT PLANS	
ARTICLE 37 - KILOMETERAGE	
ARTICLE 38 - PROTECTIVE APPARATUS	
ARTICLE 39 - TERM EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 40 - PAYMENT FOR CERTIFICATES AND EXAMINATIONS	
ARTICLE 41 – JOB EVALUATION	
ARTICLE 42- GRIEVANCE	
ARTICLE 43 - ARBITRATION	
ARTICLE 44 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 45 - VALIDITY	
ARTICLE 46 - PROFESSIONAL/CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING	
ARTICLE 47 – JOB SHARING	48

ARTICLE 48 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	. 50
APPENDIX "A" - CERTIFICATION ORDER	. 51
APPENDIX "A" - Page 2 - Excluded Employees From NSGEU, Local 82	. 52
APPENDIX "B" - Seniority List -2022	53
APPENDIX "C" - SUPPLEMENTARY EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN	. 54
NSGEU Pregnancy followed by Parental Leave	. 57
NSGEU Parental & Adoption Leave	59
APPENDIX "D" BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY FOR NSGEU EMPLOYEES	
Schedule 2 – SALARY RANGES	62
Memorandum of Agreement - Pension and Benefits	65

<u>ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT: PREAMBLE</u>

- (a) Both parties to this agreement recognize that their common purpose is to work cooperatively to meet the objectives of NSCAD University.
- (b) The purpose of this Agreement is to assist in the maintenance of a harmonious relationship between NSCAD University and the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union and its members; to clearly define the hours of work, rates of pay, and conditions of employment as stated herein; to provide for an amicable method of settling differences which may from time to time arise; to promote the mutual interest of NSCAD University and its Employees; to promote and maintain a positive working environment; in recognition whereof the parties hereto covenant and agree to the provisions that follow in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 – DEFINITIONS

- 2.01 For the purpose of this Agreement:
 - (a) "Bargaining Unit" consists of all Regular Full-time, Regular Part-time, Term and Sessional Employees employed by NSCAD University in the Bargaining Unit as described in L.R.B. order No. 3623 attached as Appendix A to this Agreement.
 - (b) "Employer", "University" and "NSCAD University" mean the Nova Scotia College of Art and Design.
 - (c) "Employee" means an Employee employed by the Employer in the Bargaining Unit Local 82.
 - (d) "Union" means the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union.
 - (e) "Regular Full-time Employee" means an Employee hired to work the normal full-time work hours set out in Article 25 and is not a Term Employee as per Article 2.01 (h).
 - (f) "Regular Part-time Employee" means an Employee hired to work for hours and periods less than the normal full-time work hours and is not a Term Employee as per Article 2.01 (h).
 - For greater clarity, a "regular" member of the bargaining unit who applies for and receives a Term Appointment, retains their status as a Regular Employee and is a Regular Employee in a Term Position.
 - (g) "Temporary Employee" means an Employee hired without the intention of becoming permanent, and who is employed for a specified period of time for a number of consecutive Working Days to fill a position which is vacant due to the absence of a Regular or Sessional Employee, through extended illness or accident, approved leave of absence, or where special circumstances such as moving or renovations normally between May 1 and August 31, indicate a need for temporary workers, of less than six (6) months duration. This period may be extended through mutual agreement of the Union and the Employer for a period of an additional six (6) months.

Temporary Employees are not included in the Bargaining Unit.

- (h) "Term Employee" means an Employee hired for a period in excess of six (6) months into a position of limited and set duration. Term Employees are members of the Bargaining Unit.
- (i) "Term Position" means a position that is for a defined period of time in excess of six (6) months and no longer than twelve (12) months for a specified project or to fill Bargaining Unit absences of greater than six (6) months. The period of a Term Position may be extended for an additional twelve (12) months with the approval of the Union. Unless filling a vacancy, Term positions lasting longer than twenty-four (24) months shall be considered permanent and the position shall be posted.
- (j) "Agreement" shall mean the Collective Agreement between the NSGEU on behalf of Local 82 and the University.
- (k) "Immediate Supervisor" means personnel designated by the Employer who are responsible for the direct supervision of the work of another staff member or group of staff members.
- (I) "Casual Employee" means an Employee who is employed on an occasional but non-scheduled basis or whose consecutive Working Days do not exceed the maximum vacation entitlement of a Full-time Employee.
 - Casual Employees may be employed to replace Full-time and/or Part-time Employees who are absent from work due to short-term illness or accident, vacation, bereavement leave, statutory holidays, Union business, and emergencies.
 - Casual Employees are not members of the Bargaining Unit.
- (m) "Sessional Employee" means an Employee hired for an indefinite term who works on a scheduled basis for less than twelve (12) months per year (normally for the Fall and Winter semesters).
 - If the annual period of employment is extended on a permanent basis to a period of twelve (12) consecutive months, then the position shall become a Regular Full-time or Regular Part-time position depending upon the hours to be worked.
 - Sessional Employees are members of the Bargaining Unit and this Collective Agreement applies to such Employees in accordance with the provisions of the Articles contained herein.
- (n) "Probationary Period" means a period of six (6) months of actual and active work being served by a newly hired Employee in order to determine suitability for ongoing employment. The Probationary Period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer for a period of one (1) additional month to a maximum of three (3) one-month extensions of actual and active work by the new Employee.
- (o) "Trial Period" means a period of sixty (60) Working Days of actual and active work being served by a current Employee who has been appointed to a new position within the Bargaining Unit in order to determine the Employee's capability to fulfill the responsibilities of the new position. By mutual agreement between the parties, the Trial Period may be extended by one (1) month, to a maximum of three (3) one-month extensions.

- (p) "Day(s)", unless defined otherwise in this Collective Agreement, means Working Days. "Working Day(s)" means days other than holidays or days of rest on which the Employee is not scheduled to work.
- (q) "Continuous Service" means uninterrupted employment with NSCAD University, on an active and actual basis, as a permanent Employee, which has not been broken by resignation or termination; provided however, that the following shall not be considered as interruptions of employment:
 - (i) periods while an Employee is receiving short or long term disability benefits:
 - (ii) authorized leaves of absence;
 - (iii) periods of layoff of not more than sixteen (16) consecutive calendar months.
- (r) "Spouse" means a person married to another person and, for the purposes of this Collective Agreement, includes a person living with another person in a conjugal relationship for one year or more, provided however, the parties hereby acknowledge and agree that such definition may not satisfy the requirements of any pension plan or other contractual arrangement to which the Employer may be party. Where an external plan's definition is inconsistent with this Collective Agreement, then the external plan's definition will apply.
- (s) "Student Assistant" means a part-time or full-time student enrolled in a regular credit course at NSCAD University, or in the case of the summer semester, is registered for Fall enrolment, and who performs work which is limited in scope and responsibility and is defined and limited by Article 4.04 and who is not an Employee of NSCAD University in any other capacity.
 - Student Assistants are not members of the Bargaining Unit.
- 2.02 Unless any provisions of the Agreement otherwise specify, the plural includes the singular, and vice versa as the context may require.
- 2.03 Unless any provisions of the Agreement otherwise specify, the masculine includes the feminine and vice versa as the context may require.

ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 3.01 The Employer reserves and retains solely and exclusively all its inherent rights to manage the University, except where limited by the terms of this Agreement and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Union acknowledges that it is the function of the Employer to:
 - (a) maintain order, discipline, and efficiency;
 - (b) determine vacancies, hire, assign work, determine work methods and procedures, determine kinds and locations of equipment, promote, demote, discipline, suspend, lay off, or discharge any Employee covered by this agreement:
 - (c) judge the qualifications, competence, skills and abilities of the Employees; and determine the nature and kind of services or programs to be provided by the Employer and the staffing requirements to be used in providing these services and programs.

ARTICLE 4 – RECOGNITION

- 4.01 The Employer recognizes the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Employees in the Bargaining Unit as defined in Article 2.01 (a).
- 4.01 Persons employed by the Employer outside the Bargaining Unit shall not perform Bargaining Unit work beyond present practice (i.e., those circumstances when the Employer determines that special skills are required for the completion of a particular task), except in cases of emergency, training, or experimentation with procedures, machines or equipment.
- 4.02 Where a new position is created at the University in which the job duties are similar in nature to the Bargaining Unit, the Union shall receive notification and a copy of the Position Description. Disputes regarding inclusion/exclusion of a position will be referred to the Nova Scotia Labour Relations Board for resolution.
- 4.03 When Student Assistants do work for Employees in the Bargaining Unit, the following policies and procedures shall be followed:
 - (a) Student Assistants shall not be hired as replacement staff for Bargaining Unit Employees;
 - (b) Student Assistants will work in accordance with the NSCAD University Student Assistant Work policy;
 - (c) Student Assistants are not members of the Bargaining Unit and shall be paid by time sheets.

<u>ARTICLE 5 - AMALGAMATION, CONSOLIDATION AND MERGER</u>

Subject to any future legislation affecting the amalgamation, consolidation, merger or other reorganization of the University, the Employer and the Union agree that the appropriate provisions of the Trade Union Act respecting the transfer of business or successor rights shall apply in the event that the University is, in whole or in part, merged, amalgamated, or consolidated with another employing body. In particular, the purchaser, lessee or transferee or any of them is a party to or is bound by this Collective Agreement, and unless legislation otherwise directs, the Collective Agreement continues in force and is binding upon the purchaser, lessee or transferee.

In the event that the operations of the University are relocated to locations outside the Halifax Regional Municipality, this Agreement shall continue to apply.

ARTICLE 6 - NO DISCRIMINATION

Neither the Employer nor the Union will discriminate against any Employee with respect to the application of the terms and conditions of employment on the basis of race, colour, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, citizenship, physical or mental disability, age, source of income, family status, creed, ethnic, aboriginal or national origin, religion, political affiliation, political activity and political beliefs (provided such do not interfere with the operation of the University), irrational fear of contracting an illness or disease all as defined and excepted in the Human Rights Act or membership or non-membership or lawful participation in, or abstention from, the activities of the Union.

The Employer acknowledges that it has the duty to accommodate Employees in the interpretation of this Article.

ARTICLE 7 - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS, DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

- 7.01 Given the need to effectively perform the work of the University, it is recognized that, although the essential nature of an Employee's function will not be changed, the range of tasks assigned may be altered from time to time after discussion with the Employee and followed up with written confirmation. In those cases when an Employee's work location is to be changed to a location more than one kilometer from the former work location, the Employer will provide thirty (30) Days' notice to the Employee and the Union.
- 7.02 The Employer agrees to designate one supervisor for each Employee in the Bargaining Unit.
- 7.03 The Employer will maintain a room to be used as a lunchroom area which will be available to members of Local 82. For greater clarity, this space will not be utilized by NSCAD students.

ARTICLE 8 - UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES CHECKOFF

- 8.01 Membership in the Union shall not be a condition of employment at the University.
- 8.02 The Employer shall deduct twice each month from the pay of each Employee, regular dues, the amount to be authorized from time to time by the Union as certified in writing by the Union to the Employer. The Employer shall remit such amounts deducted to the Union no later than the tenth (10) Day of the month following the month of deduction, together with a written statement of the names of the persons from whom the deductions were made and the amount of each deduction.
- 8.03 The Union agrees to and does hereby indemnify and save the Employer harmless from all claims, demands, actions and proceedings of any kind and from all costs which may arise or be taken against the University by reason of the Employer making the compulsory check-off of Union dues provided for in Article 8.02.

ARTICLE 9 - UNION BUSINESS AND UNION REPRESENTATION

- 9.01 The Employer agrees to provide reasonable access to the University to representatives of NSGEU or legal counsel invited by the Union provided such access does not in any way interfere with the normal operations of the University.
- 9.02 Providing reasonable notice is given to the administrator designated by the Employer for that purpose, the Employer shall not prohibit committees and general membership meetings from being held on the Employer's property providing no extra expense to the Employer is incurred to hold such meetings and that they do not interfere with the normal operations of the University.
- 9.03 The Employer acknowledges the right of the Union to elect or appoint Employees as executives and stewards. The Union will, from time to time, notify the Employer of the names of the Local Executive and Stewards. The Union will notify the Employer in writing of the names of the current officers of the Union and names of the officer(s), if any, replaced by new appointments.
- 9.04 It is understood that stewards have their regular work to perform on behalf of the University. Notwithstanding this, when necessary, a steward, or the President of the Union Local, shall obtain the permission of the Immediate Supervisor before leaving

work to assist in the processing of grievances (and in the case of the President of the Union Local to meet with new Employees in order to explain benefits and Union matters or to participate in scheduled meetings with the Employer). Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld providing that these duties are performed as expeditiously as possible. The steward shall report to his or her Immediate Supervisor before resuming the normal duties of his or her position. Employees who are stewards or who are serving as the President of the Union Local shall not suffer loss of pay as a result of time spent on their duties during regular working hours. There shall be no compensation by the Employer to Employees who are stewards for time spent on their duties outside regular working hours.

- 9.05 Employees required to take part in grievance or arbitration proceedings shall not suffer loss of pay when such proceedings occur during scheduled work hours. However, before leaving the work location for this purpose, the Employee shall give as much notice as circumstances permit to the Immediate Supervisor. Before resuming normal work duties, the Employee shall report to the Immediate Supervisor.
- 9.06 (a) The Employer agrees to recognize a negotiating committee to be appointed by the Union for the purposes of representing the Employees in the negotiations and renewal of this Collective Agreement. It is agreed that up to three (3) members of the Union Negotiating Committee shall not suffer any loss of wages for participating in bargaining scheduled during their normal working hours. The scheduling of negotiation meetings shall be by mutual agreement based on the operational requirements of the University. The Employer shall be advised in writing of the names of the Committee members prior to the commencement of negotiations.
 - (b) In the event that a member of the bargaining team is unavailable for scheduled bargaining due to operational requirements, the parties may agree to re-schedule the meeting. The Employer or Union shall advise the other party of scheduling problems as soon as possible in advance of the meeting. If, however, the parties mutually agree that the meeting will take place as scheduled in spite of operational requirements, the Union will reimburse the Employer for the salary or overtime pay of the Employee assigned to replace the bargaining team member, or the overtime salary paid to the bargaining team member to have the required work completed.
- 9.07 The Employer agrees, upon the written request of the Union to provide the Union with information regarding the salary and benefits of Employees in the Bargaining Unit. On a case-by-case basis, the Employer will consider a written request from the Union for additional information required for the negotiation of the Agreement.
- 9.08 The Employer agrees to notify the Union within ten (10) Days of the appointment, job titles, reclassification, and termination of any member of the Bargaining Unit.
- 9.09 Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer may grant special leave without pay to Employees who are elected as members of the Board of Directors of the Union to attend executive meetings and to Employees who attend regularly scheduled workshops or conventions as delegates, with the allowance for such special leave to be an aggregate total of thirty (30) Working Days per calendar year. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

- 9.10 The Employer shall continue the salary of an Employee who is granted leave without pay for Union business and shall bill the Union for the Employee's salary. Every reasonable effort will be made by the Union to reimburse the Employer within thirty (30) Days of the Employee's absence on Union business.
- 9.11 An Employee shall continue to accumulate seniority and benefits during an absence for Union business under Article 9.09.
- 9.12 The Employer shall provide each Employee with a copy of this Agreement, and information on benefit plans within thirty (30) Days of its signing.
- 9.13 The Employer will allow correspondence to be delivered to Employees through the internal mail service at the University.
- 9.14 The Employer will provide sufficient bulletin board space at an accessible location, upon which boards the Union shall have the right to post notices pertaining to elections, meeting dates, news items, social and recreational affairs.
- 9.15 Employees shall be allowed one (1) hour per month to attend Union meetings without loss of pay. In conjunction with these monthly Union meetings, the Local Executive and Stewards shall be allowed an additional one (1) hour period to attend to Union business.

9.16 Union Executive Positions

Where the Union has determined the requirement for a fulltime elected Union Executive position under the following headings: President (NSGEU), First Vice President, Second Vice President, Third Vice President, Secretary Treasurer; President and Secretary Treasurer of the National Union of Public Employees (NUPGE), or President of the Nova Scotia Federation of Labour an approved leave of absence without pay shall be granted in accordance with the following provisions:

- (a) An employee elected to one of the above noted full-time Union Executive positions shall be given an approved leave of absence without pay for the term(s) they are to serve, up to thirty-six (36) months.
- (b) All benefits of the employee shall continue in effect while the employee is serving in the full-time Union Executive position and for such purposes, the employee shall be deemed to be in the employ of the Employer and to have continuous service with the Employer for all purposes.
- (c) The gross salary shall be determined by the Union and paid to the employee by the Employer. The amount of the gross salary shall be reimbursed to the Employer by the Union. The Union shall also reimburse to the Employer the Employer's portion for all statutory and required benefit contributions/premiums/deductions during the approved leave of absence.
- (d) Upon expiration of their term of office, the employee shall be reinstated in the position they held immediately prior to the commencement of leave, or if the position no longer exists, then to an equivalent position.

(e) Any vacation earned but not used prior to the employee taking office shall be carried over to be taken in the fiscal year in which the employee returns from the approved leave of absence.

A leave of absence for a second and subsequent consecutive terms shall be granted in accordance with the provisions of this Article.

- 9.17 New Employee Orientation
 - (a) The Employer will provide new Employees with:
 - A copy of the current Collective Agreement;
 - Information on NSCAD Benefits and policies.
 - (b) The Employer will provide the Local President with a copy of all new employee appointment letters.
 - (c) One member of the Local Executive Committee, may meet with new Employees following the initial meeting with Employer to explain the benefits and duties of Union membership. Permission of the supervisor shall be obtained before leaving the job and such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE 10 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 10.01 The Labour Management Committee shall consist of two (2) Employees appointed by the Union from the Bargaining Unit and two (2) representatives appointed by the Employer. A quorum for each meeting of the Committee shall be all four (4) members. The parties may change their representatives from time to time, but every reasonable effort shall be made to provide continuity.
- 10.02 The Committee shall attempt to foster good communication and effective working relationships between the parties and a spirit of cooperation and goodwill within the University. The Committee shall consider matters of mutual concern and shall not substitute for, nor interfere with, regular procedures and decision-making mechanisms. The Committee shall not have the power to add to, modify or amend this Agreement.
- 10.03 The Committee shall meet at the request of either party. Such request will be accompanied by a written agenda.
- 10.04 The Committee shall determine its own operating procedures.

ARTICLE 11 - HEALTH AND SAFETY

- 11.01 The Employer shall make all reasonable provisions for the occupational safety and health of Employees, including but not limited to:
 - (a) providing and maintaining workplaces, equipment, work methods and tools that are safe and without risk to health;
 - (b) providing, and ensuring that Employees are made familiar with the proper use of, equipment, clothing and devices deemed necessary to prevent injury, and ensuring that Employees use this equipment, clothing and devices on the job;

- (c) providing such information, instruction, training, supervision and facilities as are necessary to the health or safety of the Employees;
- informing Employees and the Union of any situation relating to their work which may endanger the Employees' health or safety as soon as it learns of the situation; and
- (e) taking, without delay, all the measures necessary to prevent or correct a situation liable to endanger the health and safety of Employees, as soon as this situation is brought to its attention.

11.02 Occupational Health and Safety Act

The Employer agrees to be bound by the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1996, c7s.1 together with any regulations or amendments thereto.

11.03 Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee

The Employer agrees to continue to support the joint Health and Safety Committee of the University. The membership of the Committee will consist of representatives of each Employee Union and the administration with no more than one half of the members of the committee being Employer representatives. The Union shall be entitled to elect one (1) representative to the Committee. All Employees who are members will be given time off with pay to attend Health and Safety Committee meetings and to attend to Committee matters.

The mandate of the Committee will be to establish a University-wide program of policies and procedures. Activities may include:

- (a) involving Employees and the Employer in occupational health and safety;
- (b) receiving, investigating and dealing with Employee complaints including, without limitation, an Employee's right to refuse;
- (c) identifying hazards to health and safety and determining effective systems to dispose of them;
- (d) ensuring compliance with health and safety requirements;
- (e) participating in inspections, inquiries and investigations;
- (f) advising on individual protection devices, equipment and clothing that comply with the occupational Health and Safety Act and are suited to the Employees' needs:
- (g) advising the Employer on policies and programs;
- (h) holding regular meetings and maintaining records as prescribed by the Occupational Health and Safety Act.

11.04 An Employee may refuse to do any act at the Employee's place of employment if such Employee has reasonable grounds to believe that such act is likely to endanger the Employee's health or safety (unless the danger is inherent in the work of the Employee) or the health or safety of any other person. An Employee who exercises the right to refuse shall immediately report such refusal to a supervisor. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, an Employee who refuses to do work may be reassigned to do other work for which the Employee is qualified.

11.05 First Aid Kits

The Employer shall provide and maintain appropriate first-aid kits in each area where Employees work.

11.06 No Discrimination

The Employer shall not take or threaten to take discriminatory or other action against an Employee because of that Employee's assertion of rights pursuant to this Article or pursuant to the Occupational Health and Safety Act.

<u>ARTICLE 12 – HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT</u>

- 12.01 The Employer and Union are committed to a working and learning environment which is free of harassment and sexual harassment.
- 12.02 The Employer has established a committee, namely the Advisory Committee on Discrimination and Harassment, to which the Union shall be entitled to appoint one (1) representative. The Committee is empowered, among other things, to support and monitor policies on harassment, sexualized violence and respectful working environments for NSCAD University which is contained in the NSCAD University Policy on Discrimination and Harassment
- 12.03 The parties agree to support the policy and procedures established by the committee.

ARTICLE 13 - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

Recognizing the dispute resolution mechanism referred to in Articles 42 and 43, until such time as a legal strike or lockout may occur, it is agreed that during the term of this Agreement there shall be no strikes, work stoppages, or other job action pressures by the Union or the Employees covered by the Agreement and it is agreed that there shall be no lockout by the Employer.

ARTICLE 14 - JOB POSTING

- 14.01 When the Employer determines that a vacancy exists for a permanent position, a notice of vacancy shall be posted within five (5) Working Days of the determination. The Employer shall make appointments from within the ranks of existing Employees on the basis of past satisfactory job performance when such Employees apply for the position, provided that they have the necessary skills, ability, and knowledge as set out by the Employer in the notice of vacancy and determined through the hiring process. If, in the opinion of the Employer, two or more Employees are found to possess the qualifications in accordance with the foregoing criteria, seniority shall be the deciding factor.
- 14.02 When an Employee leaves a position, the Employer shall advise the Union when the position has been vacated. The Employer shall advise of its intentions concerning the status of the position within thirty (30) Days of a request by the Union.
- 14.03 The Employer shall post notices of vacancies internally (on the Employer's website and via email) and externally for ten (10) Working Days. Consideration will first be given to current bargaining unit employees. Screening for external candidates will not take place prior to interviews for qualified internal candidates. The notice shall contain a general description of the vacant position, qualifying requirements, rate of pay, scheduled hours of work and other relevant information. Employees who desire to be considered for the position will be required to notify the University before the expiration of the ten (10) Day period. The Employer will fill such job vacancies in accordance with Article 14.01 after giving reasonable consideration to applications from Employees who are absent because of vacation, illness or other excused absence. After filling such job vacancies, the Employer will send a copy of the letter of appointment to the Union and Local President.
- 14.04 If a vacancy is filled by a current Employee, that Employee shall not go through a Probationary Period, but shall have a sixty (60) Day Trial Period during which there will be no loss of seniority, benefits or rights under this Agreement. The Trial Period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer for one (1) month periods, totaling not more than three (3) consecutive months of actual and active work by the Employee.

When the Employer fills a vacancy with a current Employee who does not at the time of appointment possess all of the required qualifications, the appointment will be made with the understanding that the additional qualifications must be obtained during the Trial Period and that the obtaining of additional qualifications is a condition of final appointment to the new position.

If the Employee feels that they are not capable of fulfilling the responsibilities of the new position or if it is determined by the Employer that an Employee is not performing satisfactorily during the Trial Period, the Employee shall be returned to his or her former position at the Employee's former rate of pay and without loss of seniority. It is understood that any other Employee hired, promoted or transferred because of any rearrangement of appointments within the Bargaining Unit shall be returned to their former position (if any) at the former rate of pay and without loss of seniority.

14.05 Employees who accept a position outside the Bargaining Unit, and who, within six (6) months, are unsuccessful or feel that they are not capable of fulfilling the responsibilities of the new position may be hired for a vacant Bargaining Unit position for which they are qualified and for which a current qualified Bargaining Unit member

has not applied, without loss of seniority as of the date the Employee left the Bargaining Unit.

- 14.06 Hiring preference for job postings will be as follows:
 - (a) Existing Employees will have first preference in accordance with Article 14.01.
 - (b) Employees who have accepted a position outside the Bargaining Unit during the previous six months will have second preference in accordance with Article 14.05.
 - (c) All other applicants may then be considered.

ARTICLE 15 – RE-ASSIGNMENT

- 15.01 The Employer recognizes the importance of providing Employees with opportunities for new work experience and will endeavour to make Employees aware of such opportunities for re-assignment to term positions within the Bargaining Unit or to Bargaining Unit positions which are temporarily vacated by the incumbent.
- 15.02 Where operational requirements permit, the Employer will call for Expressions of Interest, in writing, to be addressed to the Director of Human Resources for consideration in re-assignment opportunities of a specific or general nature.
- **15.03** Employees may apply for re-assignment to a term position within the bargaining unit or to a bargaining unit position which is temporarily vacated by the incumbent. Such reassignments shall include opportunities to a position of a higher classification.
 - (a) Such re-assignments shall normally be for a minimum of six (6) months duration and will include temporary vacancies due to leaves of absence such as, but not limited to, pregnancy, parental and adoption leaves.
 - (b) If selected for the position, the member shall maintain their permanent bargaining unit status and have the right to return at the expiry of the term of the reassignment to their former position in their same classification and pay level and is a "regular employee" in a term position as per Article 2.01 (e) or (f).
 - (c) Where the re-assignment is to a position of a higher classification the Employee shall be paid at the lowest step of the higher classification, provided this does not result in any decrease in their current salary.
- **15.04** The parties agree that access to Expression of Interest positions described in this Article for existing Employees do not take priority over members on the recall list.

ARTICLE 16 - PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE

16.01 "Probationary Employee" means newly hired Employees who are serving a Probationary Period of six (6) months of actual and active work by the Employee. The Probationary Period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer for a period of one (1) additional month to a maximum of three (3) one (1) month extensions of actual and active work by the new Employee. It is recognized that a Probationary

- Employee is serving a work period to determine competence and suitability for a particular position and may be terminated upon the provision of two (2) weeks' notice if, in the Employer's judgment, the Employee does not meet acceptable standards. Performance appraisals will be carried out as per Article 17.02.
- 16.02 Once the Employee successfully completes the Probationary Period, the Employer shall confirm in writing the appointment of the Employee as a Regular Employee.
- 16.03 During the Probationary Period, the Employee shall receive no seniority rights. After successfully completing the Probationary Period, the Employee shall receive credit for seniority purposes from the original date of hire as a Probationary Employee.
- 16.04 Probationary Employees shall be covered by all provisions of the Collective Agreement except for Long Term Disability (Article 36.01) Probationary Employees shall be entitled to Short Term Disability after three (3) months service.

ARTICLE 17 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE AND APPRAISAL

- 17.01 A formal, written performance appraisal for each Employee is to be completed by the Employer every year. The contents of the performance appraisal shall be discussed with the Employee. The Employer shall conduct performance appraisals in May commencing the May following successful completion of the probationary period. Sessional Employees, whose annual period of employment ends before May, will have a performance review during the last scheduled month of service.
- 17.02 A formal, written performance appraisal shall be completed at least five (5) Working Days before the completion of the Employee's probationary period.
- 17.03 A formal, written performance appraisal shall be completed for all Employees who accept a new position within the University at least five (5) Working Days before the completion of the Employee's Trial Period.
- 17.04 The written performance appraisal shall be reviewed with the Employee and the Employee shall be afforded the opportunity to record on the document any brief comments or additional information the Employee feels is warranted.
- 17.05 Copies of the performance appraisal document will be distributed to the Employee, the Immediate Supervisor, and the Director of Human Resources or designate for inclusion in the Employee's official personnel file.
- 17.06 The Employer shall consult with the Union in designing and revising the form to be used for performance appraisal.

ARTICLE 18 - OFFICIAL PERSONNEL FILES

- 18.01 There shall be one official personnel file for each Employee to be used in decisions respecting the terms and conditions of employment of that Employee.
- 18.02 Upon request, by appointment, and upon reasonable notice, Employees shall be given the opportunity to review their official personnel file during normal business hours and in the presence of the Director of Human Resources or designate. Copies of material in the Employee's official personnel file will be provided upon request.

- 18.03 The Employer agrees not to introduce as evidence in a hearing relating to disciplinary action any documents from the Employee's file which the Employee is not aware of at the time of disciplinary action.
- 18.04 All information in the official personnel files relating to disciplinary matters or to an Employee's job performance, financial status or health shall be considered confidential and shall not be released without the express written consent of the Employee involved except as required by law or the internal administrative purposes of the University.

ARTICLE 19 - SENIORITY

- 19.01 Except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement, "seniority" shall be defined as the length of continuous service in the Bargaining Unit with the Employer from the date of hire.
- 19.02 Employees shall have seniority only after they have completed the Probationary Period and have been appointed as Regular Full-time, Regular Part-time, or Sessional Employees. After the successful conclusion of the Probationary Period, hours worked during the Probationary Period shall be counted towards an Employee's seniority.
- 19.03 The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the date upon which each Employee's service with the Employer commenced and their total accumulated seniority. Where the seniority of two or more Employees is compared, this shall be done by prorating the seniority accumulated as a Part-time or Sessional Employee. An up-to-date seniority list shall be given to the Union and circulated to Employees. Seniority lists shall be drawn up and provided to the Union within thirty (30) Days of the signing of this Collective Agreement and each successive year in the month of June.
- 19.04 Protest in regard to seniority status must be submitted in writing within sixty (60) Days from the date seniority lists are given to the Union. If proof of error is presented by an Employee or the Employee's representative, such error will be corrected and the agreed upon seniority shall be final.
- 19.05 Subject to other relevant provisions of this Agreement, an Employee shall not lose but shall not accumulate seniority rights if absent from work because of an approved leave of absence of more than three (3) months, or on lay-off for a period of up to sixteen (16) months. During pregnancy leave an Employee will continue to accumulate seniority.
- 19.06 Seniority and employment shall be considered broken if an Employee:
 - (a) resigns in accordance with Article 34; or
 - (b) is terminated for cause and not reinstated; or
 - (c) is not rehired within sixteen (16) months after a layoff; or
 - (d) has been laid off and declines to have their name placed on the recall list; or
 - (e) has been laid off and fails to respond to a recall notice on two (2) occasions; or
 - (f) is absent from work because of illness or injury for a period in excess of twenty-eight (28) months.

ARTICLE 20 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

- 20.01 The parties agree that, when reasonably possible, the Employer shall discuss job performance and conduct with the Employee(s) concerned, in order to inform and to permit correction, before disciplinary procedures are initiated. In such cases, the Employer shall meet with the Employee to review the problem and shall advise the Employee of their right to have a steward or Union representative present. The Employee may be accompanied at this meeting by a steward or Union representative, and the Employer may also be accompanied by a designated representative.
- 20.02 No Employee who has completed the Probationary Period shall be disciplined or discharged except for just cause. In cases of discharge and/or discipline, except in the case of Probationary Employees, the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Employer.
- 20.03 Where an Employee alleges that they have been discharged in violation of Article 20.02, a grievance may be filed at Step Two of the grievance procedure.
- 20.04 When the Employer determines that it is necessary to take disciplinary action against an Employee, the Employee will be notified in writing with a copy forwarded to the Union within ten (10) days of the Employer becoming aware of the incident giving rise to the discipline.
- 20.05 The Employee shall have the right to reply in writing to any letter of warning and/or disciplinary action and such reply shall become part of the Employee's official personnel file. Letters of warning or notices of disciplinary action together with the Employee's response, if any, shall be removed from the Employee's official personnel file if no disciplinary action has been recorded within the subsequent eighteen (18) months or in cases of criminal conduct or harassment, within twenty-four (24) months.
- 20.06 When no discipline is imposed after disciplinary proceedings have been initiated, or if disciplinary action is set aside following grievances and/or arbitration, no records of such proceeding or actions shall be placed in or remain in an Employee's official personnel file.
- 20.07 Employees shall have the right to refuse to perform the work of striking/locked out employees of the University. Subject to its other rights in such circumstances, the Employer agrees that it shall not take disciplinary action against an Employee for refusing to cross a legal picket line of employees at the University.

ARTICLE 21 - LEGAL INDEMNIFICATION

- 21.01 Effective during the term of this Agreement, the University shall provide for liability coverage of Employees' liability while performing duties or tasks required and authorized by the University or customarily performed as part of the Employee's duties. Such liability coverage shall be within the terms and conditions of the liability policies of the University.
- 21.02 The Employee will not be held responsible for copying materials when instructed to do so by the Employer.

ARTICLE 22 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

22.01 Definition

For the purposes of this Article "technological change" means the introduction of equipment or material by the Employer which is likely to affect the job security of Employees.

22.02 Introduction

The Employer agrees that it will endeavour to introduce technological change in a manner which, as much as is practicable, will minimize the disruptive effects on Employees and services to the public.

22.03 Notice to Union

If the Employer makes a preliminary decision to introduce technological change, it shall give the Union written notice of such preliminary decision as soon as reasonably practicable or a minimum of one (1) month prior to the date the change is contemplated to take effect.

During the notice period, the parties shall meet to discuss the steps to be taken to assist Employees who could be affected with reference to the following principles:

- (a) retraining shall be provided during normal working hours where possible; and
- (b) the decision to provide training shall be made by the Employer in consultation with the affected Employee, providing that the parties acknowledge that the Employee may also request specific training if they believe it will increase their ability to perform the required job duties.

Such discussions may be terminated by either party upon written notice after three (3) weeks from the date the Union receives notice of the contemplated changes or by agreement of the parties. The contemplated changes shall not be implemented until the discussion is terminated.

ARTICLE 23 - CONTRACTING OUT

- 23.01 The Employer shall not contract out, subcontract, transfer, lease, assign or privatize ("contract out") any work or services performed by members of the Bargaining Unit except in accordance with the following conditions and/or procedures:
 - (a) The Employer agrees to meet with the Union to consider means of minimizing the adverse effects on Employees, including a review of alternatives to contracting out, retraining, and the relocation of Employees to other positions in the University.
 - (b) The Employer shall meet with the Union at least forty (40) Days prior to the layoff of Employees.
 - (c) In the event that the Employer contracts out work, the Employer agrees to include as a condition of the contract, a requirement to give preference to such Employees who are available and have the necessary skills to perform the work.
 - (d) Employees laid off as a result of contracting out shall receive notice in writing as follows:

- (i) Forty (40) Days' notice if their period of employment is two (2) years or less.
- (ii) Five (5) additional Days' notice for every year of employment in excess of two (2) years.
- (iii) Where less notice is given than required, Employees shall continue to receive salary and benefits as per Article 35.01, provided that the Employees are participating in such plans at the time of the layoff, for the number of Days for which they are required to be in receipt of such notice.
- 23.02 (a) Subject to Article 23.01, the Employer shall use its best efforts to secure the retention of the Employees affected by the contracting out either by the contractor or through the assignment of the Employees to other positions within the University.
 - (b) In the re-assignment of Employees, the provisions of Article 24.04 (a) and (b) shall apply.

ARTICLE 24 - LAYOFFS AND RECALLS

- 24.01 A layoff is a suspension in active employment due to a shortage of work, a redundancy, or a financial exigency. The University will meet with the Union to outline the reasons for the layoff and to share any financial or relevant information that supports the business case for a layoff.
- 24.02 An Employee's recall rights shall lapse if layoff lasts more than sixteen (16) consecutive months without a recall and the affected person's employment shall be deemed terminated.
- 24.03 All reductions in forces will be made in reverse order of seniority among the Employees performing similar work.
- 24.04 When displacements, deletions of positions, layoffs and/or closures of divisions/departments are anticipated by the University, the University agrees to discuss with the Union as soon as possible prior to issuing lay-off notices to employees. The purpose of this meeting is to discuss the reasons for the lay-off, review options for employees, including but not limited to reviewing the available options for employees and training opportunities. Nothing in the following procedures prohibits the Union and Employer from agreeing to arrangements that will reduce the impact on employees.
- 24.05 An employee who is laid off shall be advised of the details of their options in writing and given at least five (5) working days to advise the Employer of their choice of the options provided. Should an employee be offered another position the details shall include an updated position description, work schedule and any other pertinent information. If more than one employee is being laid off, the process will start with the most senior employee.

The following process will take place for employees who are laid off:

(a) Placement in vacant bargaining unit positions provided that in the determination of the employer, the Employee has the necessary skills to perform the work.

- (b) If no vacant positions exist, pursuant to 24.05 (a) the Employee shall be entitled to exercise seniority to displace the most junior Employee in the same classification and similar job description, providing that, in the determination of the Employer, the Employee has the necessary skills to perform the work. The employer will provide on the job training as deemed necessary to assist with ensuring a successful placement.
- (c) If the Employee cannot displace another Employee pursuant to 24.05 (b) above, such Employee shall be entitled to displace the most junior Employee in the same or lower classification, providing that in the determination of the Employer the Employee has the necessary skills to immediately perform the work. The employer will provide on the job training as deemed necessary to assist with ensuring a successful placement.
- (d) This process shall continue until there are no junior Employees to displace.
- (e) An employee who is laid off may opt to resign with severance or go on the recall list anytime during the process. The employee may decline a position in any of the foregoing steps or if they are on the recall list, if the position is a different full time equivalency, a term position, or a position in a lower paid classification. The employee would go to the next step in the process, or remain on the recall list whichever is applicable.
- (f) An employee who is displaced shall be considered laid off and entitled to notice of lay-off and placement/displacement and recall as outlined herein.
- (g) For employees who exercise their rights in article 24.05 the trial period pursuant to Article 2.01 (o) and 14.04 shall apply.
- 24.06 All Employees shall be entitled to layoff notice in accordance with the following schedule:
 - (a) Thirty (30) Days' notice if the period of employment in the Bargaining Unit is two (2) years or less.
 - (b) Five (5) additional Days of notice for every year of employment in the Bargaining Unit in excess of two (2) years.
 - (c) Sessional Employees shall receive pay in lieu of notice pursuant to this Article only for those hours they were scheduled to work during the said notice period. A Sessional Employee will not be entitled to pay in lieu of notice for any portion of the notice period which coincides with the Employee's non-working period.
- 24.07 If less than the required notice is given, then the Employee shall continue to receive pay for the number of Days for which the Employee was required to be in receipt of such notice.
- 24.08 Employees on layoff will be recalled to vacant positions in the bargaining unit for which they are qualified as outlined in article 24.05 in the order of their seniority, provided they can report for work at the time and place required in the notice hereinafter specified. Notwithstanding the above, Employees who have been laid off for more than sixteen (16) consecutive calendar months will not have any recourse, rights or privileges as defined in this Agreement.
- 24.09 When an Employee is laid off, the Employee's name and address shall be placed on a recall list for sixteen (16) months. Such list shall be maintained by the University and

while on layoff an Employee shall provide the University with a current address. Recall shall be deemed to have been served if notice has been sent by Registered Mail to the last address on record ten (10) Days prior to the date the Employee is to report to work.

Should the Employee upon receipt of recall notice fail to return within ten (10) Days, or within fifteen (15) Days if employed elsewhere, the next eligible Employee shall be offered such vacancy. The University, at its discretion, may temporarily fill vacancies until an eligible Employee is notified and reports for duty as set forth above. If an Employee on layoff fails to respond to a recall, on two (2) occasions, the Employee shall lose seniority rights and their name shall be removed from the seniority list.

- 24.10 If an Employee who has earned seniority rights is re-employed after a layoff within the sixteen (16) consecutive calendar months, all rights and benefits as an Employee, accumulated up to the date of layoff, will be reinstated subject to the terms and conditions of existing plans.
- 24.11 An Employee who has been laid off shall be entitled to severance pay at the expiry of their recall period, or at any time earlier should the Employee wish to terminate employment and waive recall rights. Severance pay shall be equivalent to:
 - (a) Five (5) working days' pay if the Employee has less than two (2) years of service;
 - (b) Ten (10) working days' pay if the Employee has more than two (2) years of service and less than five (5) years of service;
 - (c) Twenty (20) working days' pay if the Employee has five (5) years or more and less than ten (10) years of service;
 - (d) Forty (40) working days' pay if the Employee has ten (10) or more years of service
 - (e) For every year of service over ten (10) years, the employee will receive an additional five (5) days pay to a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks total. For example, an employee with 15 years of service will receive 40 working days pay plus an additional 25 working days pay (5 years x 5 working days pay) for a total of 65 working days pay.

Employees who opt for severance pay shall forfeit their entitlement to recall and other rights under this collective agreement.

ARTICLE 25 - HOURS OF WORK

25.01 The University has twenty-four (24) pay periods per year. Paydays are on the 15th and the 30th of each month except for February when they are on the 15th and the 28th. When the scheduled payday falls on a holiday, the respective payday will be the closest preceding Working Day. When the scheduled payday falls on a weekend, the respective payday will be the preceding Friday.

- 25.02 The normal full-time working week shall consist of thirty-five (35) hours divided into five (5) Days from Monday to Friday inclusive except for Facilities Management staff whose working week may be five consecutive Days including a Sunday evening, and for Bookstore staff whose working week may be five consecutive Days including a Saturday. The normal part-time working week shall consist of less than thirty-five (35) hours scheduled between Monday and Friday inclusive except for Facilities Management staff, whose working week may include a Sunday evening and for Bookstore staff whose working week may include a Saturday.
- 25.03 The normal full-time Working Day shall consist of seven (7) hours normally between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. with one (1) unpaid hour for lunch. Lunch break will be scheduled as close to the middle of the Working Day as circumstances permit. Daily work hours and pro-rated paid rest breaks for Part-time Employees will be scheduled by the Employer during the Employee's shift. A pro-rated unpaid meal period shall be scheduled at the mutual agreement of the Employer and the Employee involved.
- 25.04 Paid rest breaks of fifteen (15) minutes shall be incorporated into each half of the full-time Working Day.
- 25.05 The parties agree that there are established health and safety workplace standards that recommend best practices to follow when using equipment and facilities in the workplace including proper ergonomics, and time lines around the use of computers. The Employer encourages Employees to familiarize themselves with these recommendations and to utilize those that work best for both parties.
- 25.06 (a) Subject to the normal requirements of the University's operation and by mutual agreement, flexible work hours may be arranged or continued.
 - (b) Employees may request to work modified schedules that include shortening their unpaid meal break by thirty (30) minutes in order to either start work later or leave work earlier for the period between June 1 and August 31. Employee requests shall be submitted by May 1 to the Employee's manager who shall respond to the Employee by May 15. The Employee's request shall be approved provided operational requirements permit and the provision of services is not adversely affected. Where the departmental needs do not permit all Employee requests to be granted, requests shall be considered first by order of seniority and then by modified requests for shorter periods of time.
- 25.07 All Employees shall work hours consistent with their established schedules. When operational requirements necessitate changes in scheduled work hours, the Employer, in implementing such changes, shall attempt to minimize the impact of any such changes to the Employees in accordance with their seniority. Notice of one (1) month shall be given to the Employee(s) affected. An Employee's regularly-scheduled hours of work may be changed with less than one (1) months' notice when there is mutual agreement of the Employer and the Employee concerned.
- 25.08 In those University operations that require scheduled shift work there will be no shift rotation during the life of this Agreement unless mutually agreed between the employer and the employee. In such cases notification will be provided to the **U**nion.

ARTICLE 26 - RATES OF PAY

- 26.01 (a) Effective July 1, 2023, the parties agree to adjust the wage rates of any classification in Schedule II for which the top of the wage scale is less than \$20.00 per hour by providing a \$1.00 per hour increase to each step of the wage scale effective July 1, 2023, and July 1, 2024.
 - (b) The following general wage increases shall be implemented during the term of this collective agreement:

July 1, 2023 2.5%

July 1, 2024 3%

July 1, 2025 3%

July 1, 2026 2.5%

- 26.02 (a) Employees shall receive not less than the minimum rate of pay established for the position. Unless provided otherwise in this Agreement, an Employee, upon employment or promotion, will be paid at the appropriate step in the classification as set out in the salary scales of this Agreement. Employees shall move to the next step in the salary scales on the first (1st) day of July, except in the following cases:
 - (i) Employees hired after January 1 and prior to July 1 shall not move up a step on July 1 during the first year of appointment;
 - (ii) Employees who, as the result of extended leave, do not have at least six
 (6) months of compensated service since July 1 of the previous year,
 shall not move up a step on July 1.
 - (b) When an Employee is temporarily assigned to the duties of a position paying a lower rate, the Employee's rate of pay shall not be reduced.
 - (c) From time to time the Employer may make temporary assignments because of extended and authorized Employee absences. When an Employee is temporarily assigned for a period of five (5) Days or more, to perform the full scope of the duties normally associated with a position for which the rate of pay is higher, the Employee shall receive the higher rate of pay for all Days worked in the higher position. This higher rate of pay will not apply to Employees assigned to higher rated positions for training purposes and working under the direct supervision of the regular Employee. This provision does not preclude the right of the Employer to assign duties of an Employee among remaining Employees.
- 26.03 Subject to Article 25.03 the Employer agrees to pay, and the Union agrees to accept, the schedule of salary ranges for job classifications as outlined in Schedule 2, and salary scales as outlined in Schedule 1.
- 26.04 It is agreed that, if new classifications are established during the life of this Agreement which are not covered by Schedule 2, the salary rates for such classifications will be negotiated between the Employer and the Union. The University may put into effect a temporary rate pending negotiations on the rate to be established, but once the rate has been established, it will be made retroactive to the time the new job classification was instituted or brought into the Bargaining Unit. These negotiations shall be completed

- within a fifteen (15) Working Day period of the appointment to the position. If the parties are unable to agree the matter shall be referred to arbitration as provided in Article 43.
- 26.05 Pay will be by direct deposit. Employees will be able to access their pay advice via the University's Enterprise Resource Planning System. To assist employees who do not have regular computer access on site, training will be provided as necessary, and access will be provided via computer in a common area. Each employee will have a unique user ID to login and access their personal pay advices either from the workplace or from home. Should extenuating circumstances arise and an employee requires a printed copy of their pay advice the Payroll office will assist them in obtaining a hard copy.
- 26.06 An Employee who is promoted to a higher position shall receive the rate of pay for the new classification or ten (10) percent more than their previous pay, whichever is greater, up to the maximum of the new classification

26.07 Shift Premium

All full-time staff whose regular shift is scheduled to start between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. shall receive a shift premium of two dollars and thirty-five cents (\$2.35) per hour for all hours worked between these hours effective the date of ratification.

The Employer will adopt the civil service shift premium rate effective the date of a tentative agreement being reached between the parties, provided that such agreement is subsequently ratified. Thereafter adjustments will be made in accordance with, and on the same effective date as adjustments to the civil service rate.

ARTICLE 27 - OVERTIME

- 27.01 Overtime means all work, outside of the Employee's regularly-scheduled work hours that is authorized in advance by the Employer.
 - (a) Employees shall advise the Employer whether they wish to be considered for overtime and those names will be placed on a list, in descending order of seniority. Overtime will be assigned on a rotating basis from the names appearing on such list. If the most senior employee refuses the overtime, or on the second assignment, the work will be offered to the next name on the list;
 - (b) Where the overtime work is work that is a continuation of work being performed during regular working hours, or work normally performed by a particular employee, such work shall be assigned to the Employee normally performing such work;
 - (c) Where the Employer is unable to have the work performed in accordance with (a) and (b) above, the Employer may designate an Employee to do the work, provided however the Employee may refuse in exceptional circumstances.
- 27.02 The Employer agrees to give a minimum of one (1) hour's advance notice of overtime as circumstances permit.
- 27.03 An Employee who is required to work overtime fifteen (15) minutes beyond the Employee's normal daily hours of work shall be compensated at the rate of time and one half (1 ½) the normal hourly rate of pay for all such overtime work. In computing overtime

compensation, a period of fifteen (15) minutes or less shall be counted and paid as one complete quarter hour. Overtime compensation shall be based on the rate of pay in effect at the time the overtime is worked. Employees shall be paid double (2) their normal hourly rate of pay for all overtime worked on Sunday and holidays except staff who may have a regular work schedule inclusive of Sundays and holidays as defined in Article 25, or the second scheduled day of rest. When an Employee who is asked to work overtime on Saturday, chooses to work on Sunday instead of the requested day, s/he shall be paid at the rate of time and one half (1 ½) the normal hourly rate of pay.

When overtime is unplanned, that is to say, no notice has been given prior to the day on which it is worked, and where the overtime is four (4) hours or more, Employees shall receive twenty dollars (\$20.00) meal allowance. Time taken for meals is not paid, except that employees will be entitled to a fifteen (15) minute paid rest period in each four (4) hour work period. Where the overtime exceeds four (4) hours the fifteen (15) minute rest periods may be combined to allow employees to enjoy a meal.

The Employer shall not require an Employee to work an unreasonable amount of overtime against their wishes.

27.04 Employees will receive remuneration for overtime hours worked at the applicable overtime rate. Taking into account the operational requirements of the University, the Employer shall grant compensation for overtime hours worked in equivalent time off at the applicable overtime rate. If time off is requested and granted, it shall be taken at a time mutually agreed upon between the Employee and the Employer. If a mutually-agreed time cannot be determined within thirty (30) Days of the overtime worked, pay will be given. If pay is requested it shall be given within one (1) month of the date overtime was worked.

27.05 Stand-By

- (a) Employees who are required by the University to stand-by shall receive stand-by pay in the amount of sixteen dollars (\$16.00) regular rate and thirty-two dollars (\$32.00) Holiday rate, for each stand-by period of eight (8) hours or less. Stand-by pay shall apply where an Employee is assigned to carry a cell phone or other electronic messaging device or be available at a known telephone number for a stand-by period of eight (8) hours or less. In order to be eligible for on stand-by shifts, employees must remain within one hour driving distance of the University.
- (b) An Employee designated for stand-by duty shall be available during the Employee's stand-by duty period at a known telephone number [as above in 27.05 (a)].
- (c) No compensation shall be granted for the total period of stand-by if the Employee is unable to report for duty when required.
- (d) Compensation for call back when an Employee is on stand-by shall be as per Article 27.06, and Employees shall be remunerated in accordance with 27.03 and 27.04.

27.06 Call Back

(a) Call back means all work hours that are discontinuous and apart from the Employee's scheduled work hours, are authorized by the Employer, are not scheduled in advance, and that require the Employee to return to the work premises. An Employee who is "called back" to work shall receive a minimum of

- four (4) hours pay at his straight time rate for the period worked or the applicable overtime for the hours worked, whichever is greater, plus return cab fare or kilometerage at the prevailing University rate. In exceptional personal circumstances, an Employee may refuse such callback work.
- (b) When an employee is called at home by the University, outside their scheduled working hours, and is required and able to perform a service for the University from home, they will be paid at the applicable overtime rate for the hours required to perform the work, for a minimum of thirty (30) minutes at the applicable overtime rate.
- 27.07 Employees may occasionally be requested to work on days when the University is closed due to an emergency. All Employees required to work on days when the University is closed will be granted an equal number of regular days off to be arranged in consultation with their immediate supervisor. In exceptional personal circumstances, an Employee may refuse such work.

ARTICLE 28 - HOLIDAYS

28.01 The following shall be paid holidays:

New Year's Day Labour Day National Day for Truth and Reconciliation

Heritage Day Good Friday

Thanksgiving Day Easter Monday

Remembrance Day Victoria Day
Christmas Day Canada Day

Boxing Day Halifax Natal Day

Any Days other than those listed above between December 20 and January 2 that have been designated as holidays. If the University is not going to designate the days between Boxing Day and New Year's Day as a holiday, notice must be sent to the Union by October 31st of each year.

Any other day designated by the President as a general holiday throughout the University, or declared by the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Government to be a holiday.

- 28.02 If any of the foregoing holidays occurs during a weekend, the President of the University shall declare either the preceding Friday or the following Monday a holiday, in lieu thereof.
- 28.03 When a holiday falls within an Employee's vacation period, the holiday shall not be counted as part of the vacation but shall be added to the end of the Employee's vacation period, or credited to the Employee's vacation leave, by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Employee.
- 28.04 When a holiday falls within a period when an Employee is on authorized sick leave, or other authorized leave, as provided for in Articles 30 and 31, a holiday is considered a holiday and no credit for any other type of leave will be given for that Day.

- 28.05 This article applies to Regular and Sessional Part-time Employees except that when a holiday falls on a Day normally scheduled for work they are entitled to be paid holiday pay for those hours they would normally have worked. Sessional Employees shall only be paid for those holidays, which occur during their regularly scheduled periods of work.
- 28.06 Religious Holiday or Cultural Observance Day in Lieu

An Employee who is entitled to time off with pay in lieu of Good Friday and Easter Monday may take such time with pay in lieu at a time that permits them to observe a religious day of their own faith or cultural observance. The Employee shall advise their immediate manager in writing of their desire to take such day(s) off in lieu as soon as possible but before February 1st each year. The immediate manager will endeavor to grant the request where operational requirements permit.

ARTICLE 29 - VACATIONS

- 29.01 The vacation year for the purposes of this article, shall be from July 1 to the following June 30 inclusive.
- 29.02 During the first five (5) years of employment, Employees shall earn annual vacation leave at the rate of eighteen (18) Days' vacation at **their** regular rate of pay. Regular Part-time Employees shall be entitled to vacation accumulation in accordance with Clause 28.03 (b).

At the conclusion of the fifth (5th) year of active service, the Employee shall receive twenty three (23) Days of vacation at their regular rate of pay.

At the conclusion of the tenth (10th) year of active service, the Employee shall receive twenty-five (25) Days of vacation at their regular rate of pay.

At the conclusion of the fifteenth (15th) year of active service, the Employee shall receive twenty-seven (27) Days of vacation at their regular rate of pay.

Effective July 1, 2004, at the conclusion of the twentieth (20Th) year of active service, the Employee shall receive thirty (30) days of vacation at their regular rate of pay.

- 29.03 (a) All Sessional Employees who have five (5) years or less of University employment shall receive vacation pay of 6.92% of their income in each pay cheque. All Sessional Employees who have more than five (5) years of University employment shall receive vacation pay of 8.85% of their income in each pay cheque.
 - (b) All Part Time Employees who work a five-day week shall be entitled to vacation in accordance with Clause 28.02. Part Time employees who work less than a five (5) day week shall be entitled to pro-rated vacation days to be determined in accordance with the following formula:

Hours worked per salary year x 18 divided by 1820 = vacation days entitlement during the first five years of employment.

Hours worked per salary year x 23 divided by 1820 = vacation days entitlement after the conclusion of five (5) years of active service.

Hours worked per salary x 25 divided by 1820 = vacation days entitlement after the conclusion of ten (10) years of active service.

Hours worked per salary year \times 27 divided by 1820 = vacation days entitlement after the conclusion of fifteen (15) years of active service.

Hours worked per salary year x 30 divided by 1820 = vacation days entitlement after the conclusion of twenty (20) years of active service.

- 29.04 (a) Request for vacation periods must normally be given to the Immediate Supervisor by May 1 for vacations to be taken in June, July and August or one month before the vacation dates to be taken in other months. The Immediate Supervisor shall, in consultation with the Employee(s), prepare a proposed vacation schedule for the Employee(s). Once a proposed schedule has been prepared by the Immediate Supervisor and set out on a Staff Report Form, they shall submit said form to the Employer. To ensure that the University has sufficient staff to meet its operational requirements, such scheduling is subject to the Employer's approval. The Employer shall normally advise the Employee(s) of its decision within five (5) days of receipt of the Staff Report Form by the Employer. If a conflict between Employees cannot be resolved through mutual agreement of the Employees, the Employee with the most seniority shall have priority in scheduling vacation time.
 - (b) Requests for incidental vacation may be submitted to the Employer at any time and will be approved based on operational requirements on a first-come, first-served basis. The Employer shall respond to the Employee's request as soon as reasonably possible.
- 29.05 In scheduling vacations, the Employer will make every reasonable effort to accommodate Employee vacation requests, taking into consideration the University's operational requirements. In order to maintain the flexibility necessary to make these accommodations, the Employer reserves the right to reassign work within the Bargaining Unit to cover periods of absence due to vacation.
- 29.06 An Employee, terminating their employment shall be entitled to a payment of salary or wages in lieu of any accumulated but unused vacation time.
- 29.07 Employees shall be paid for vacation time at the regular rate of pay in effect at the time the vacation is taken.
- 29.08 The vacation year for the purposes of this Article, including the earning of vacation and the taking thereof, shall be from July 1 to the following June 30 inclusive.
 - Employees may use vacation credits during the vacation year in which they are earned or in the immediately following vacation year. Vacations and credits will not be carried over beyond the twelve (12) months following the vacation year in which they are earned.
 - Accumulated vacation credits may not be used in lieu of sick days except where there is approval by the Employer. Such approval will be considered on a case-by-case basis.
- 29.09 Upon written application prior to April 1 of the current year, the Employer may, at its discretion permit Employees to carry forward two (2) weeks of vacation entitlement to be taken by August 31. In circumstances where operational requirements prevent the employee from taking the vacation during this period, the employee may make a request to Human Resources to have one week paid out.
- 29.10 Employees who suffer a serious accident, injury or illness or who are unexpectedly hospitalized for a period of three (3) consecutive Days or more during vacation periods and who can furnish a medical certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner in a

- form satisfactory to the Employer, may apply for and may at the Employer's determination be granted sick leave or short term disability, if the terms of the plan permit, and have their vacation entitlement restored.
- 29.11 If an Employee is injured or becomes ill before the start of their vacation, the Employee may reschedule their vacation subject to the provisions of this article and to the schedule of the previously approved vacation schedules of other Employees. Accumulated vacation entitlement shall not be lost due to illness, provided that the Employer is promptly made aware of the individual circumstances involved.

ARTICLE 30 - SICK LEAVE

30.01 Sick leave is available to provide protection for an Employee from loss of earnings due to casual illness or injury. Sick leave with pay will be granted in accordance with this Article during periods when an Employee is absent from work due to casual illness or injury. A maximum of twelve (12) Work Days of paid sick leave may be taken in each salary year by each Full-time Employee and by each Part-time Employee who works a five (5) Day week. Sessional Employees and Regular Part-time Employees who work less than a five (5) Day work week will be entitled to a pro-rated number of sick Days to be determined in accordance with the following formula:

hours worked per salary year x 12 = sick day entitlement

1820

An Employee's **unused** annual sick leave **entitlement** may **be carried** over up to a maximum of **ten** (10) unused annual sick days from year to year.

- 30.02 Employees who suffer illness of more than Five (5) consecutive Days' duration, serious injury, or hospitalization, shall be covered from the first Day of such illness, injury or hospitalization by the University's short and long term disability plans in accordance with the terms and conditions of such plans.
 - Employees hired prior to December 31, 2020 shall be covered in accordance with the MOU in Appendix E.
- 30.03 In all cases of absence due to illness or injury, it is the responsibility of the Employee to notify the Immediate Supervisor, when possible, prior to the commencement of the Employee's normal starting time, but in any case, no later than one (1) hour after that time unless circumstances prevent the Employee from providing the aforesaid notice. A medical certificate shall be required for any sick leave in excess of four (4) consecutive days.
- 30.04 Where the Employer has determined an Employee's absences, which are not supported by medical documentation, are excessive compared to other Employees in the University or where a pattern of absenteeism, not attributed to a medical condition, has been identified the Employer may require a medical certificate for any claims for sick leave. In such circumstances any request for sick leave over 3 days must be supported with a medical certificate. The Employer's requirement for a medical certificate must be communicated to the Employee before their return to work.

- 30.05 An Employee or potential Employee may be required to undergo, without cost to the Employee, medical examination(s) in the following instances:
 - (a) prior to employment if the examination is required to verify an Employee's capability to meet stated conditions of employment;

Documentation of such physical examinations shall be provided in a form satisfactory to the Employer. In cases when an Employee files a claim for short term disability, a second medical opinion may be required from a physician mutually agreed upon between the Employer and the Employee.

- 30.06 Medical documentation certifying an Employee's absence from or fitness to return to work shall be forwarded by the Employee directly to the Human Resources Office. The Employer recognizes it has a responsibility to treat this information in the strictest confidence. The Employer agrees to restrict the access of this information to those administrative personnel who are directly involved in the administration of its benefit plans. It is also agreed that medical information will not be divulged to a third party without the Employee's written consent or as otherwise required by law.
- 30.07 Sick leave shall not apply when an Employee is already on a leave of absence, including vacation (except as provided in Article 29.10), pregnancy leave, or any other leaves specified in this Agreement.
- 30.08 The Employer shall permit an Employee who submits a written request for sick leave in excess of that provided under 30.01 to deduct sick days from their Personal Leave entitlement (Article 31.11).
- 30.09 The Employer will consider on a case by case basis claims for sick leave in excess of that provided under 30.01 where it has been requested in writing and the Employee has a long history of employment without sick leave claims. The Employer will not be arbitrary in its decision.
- 30.10 The Employer and the Union agree to cooperate in encouraging Employees with alcohol or drug dependency to undergo a coordinated program directed to the object of their rehabilitation.

ARTICLE 31 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

31.01 All requests for leaves of absence under this Article shall be made with as much notice as circumstances allow. Normally all leave requests shall be authorized in advance of the anticipated absence, failing which an Employee shall be considered absent without permission. In cases of bereavement leave or court leave, when circumstances do not allow for advance notice, an Employee shall request authorization at the earliest time possible. A request for a leave of absence will not be unreasonably denied.

Sessional Employees will be entitled only to that portion of leaves specified in this article which occur during their scheduled working period. Employees will receive remuneration, when a paid leave has been approved, only for those hours they would have worked during the approved leave period.

Requests for leaves are to be made on the Staff Report Form and records of approved leaves granted shall be kept in the Employee's official personnel file.

31.02 Bereavement Leave

(a) When there is a death of an Employee's immediate family member, the Employee shall be entitled to up to five (5) consecutive Days of bereavement leave with full salary and benefits.

The Employee shall notify their Immediate Supervisor that such leave is required. The immediate family members shall be defined as the employee's parent, step-parent, parent-in-law, sibling, legal guardian, spouse, child, stepchild, grandparent, grandchild and child-in-law. Special consideration will be given to an Employee who regards someone other than their biological parents or legal guardians to be their immediate family, for the purposes of this Article.

- (b) An Employee shall be entitled to up to three (3) consecutive Days of bereavement leave with full salary and benefits for uncle, aunt, sibling-in-law. The Employee shall notify their Immediate Supervisor that such leave is required.
- (c) An Employee shall be entitled to one (1) Day of bereavement leave in the event of the death of a niece or nephew.
- (d) In cases where extraordinary circumstances prevail (such as travel outside mainland Nova Scotia), the Employer, in its sole discretion, may grant other or additional leave with or without pay for bereavement or compassionate reasons.
- (e) The period of bereavement leave may be taken within a 12-month period to allow them to attend the funeral, burial, or interment. The Employee shall notify their immediate Supervisor in writing that such leave is required.

31.03 Special Leave

Special leaves with or without pay may be granted by the Employer upon terms and conditions prescribed by the Employer.

31.04 Court Leave

Leave of absence without loss of seniority and benefits shall be given to every Employee other than an Employee on leave of absence without pay or under suspension who:

- (a) loses work time as a result of jury selection process or actual service as a juror in Court; or
- (b) by subpoena or summons attends and testifies as a witness in any proceeding held in or under the authority of a court, to which the Employee themself is not a party.

The Employer shall pay such Employee(s) the difference between normal earnings for such lost time and the payment they received for jury or witness duty. The Employee will present proof of service and the amount of pay received. An Employee released from such jury or witness duty shall return to complete that part of the work shift they would have lost had the jury or witness duty continued.

31.05 Voting Leave

In the event of an election, all Regular Full-time Employees who are electors and whose employment hours do not allow them three (3) consecutive hours of their own time for voting, shall be allowed such additional time with pay from required employment hours as may be necessary to provide the three consecutive hours. Such additional time for voting shall be granted to the Regular Full-time Employee at the time of Day that, in the

judgment of the Employer, best accommodates the Employee's duties. This article does not apply to Part-time Employees.

31.06 Political Service Leave

Employees elected to full-time political office at the municipal, provincial, or federal level shall be entitled to leave without pay. Employees must return to the University and resume duties at the end of one term of office unless special circumstances require and the Employer agrees to extend the leave beyond such term.

31.07 Medical/Dental Appointments

When Regular Full-time Employees cannot arrange medical or dental appointments outside of normal working hours, time off on an infrequent basis, without loss of pay, may be granted by the Employee's Immediate Supervisor. Notification of such absences shall be forwarded to the Employer. Where more frequent appointments are required, time may be taken from the employees annual Personal Emergency Leave.

31.08 Personal Emergency Leave

(a) Although it is an Employee's responsibility to make arrangements to ensure that they are available for work at all times during normal working hours, the Employer recognizes that an unexpected occurrence such as a storm, an illness of another member of the family, or an unexpected emergency for their pet, an unexpected school closing, or a medical emergency may require the Employee to be absent from work for short periods.

Days when the University offices or Employee workplaces have been officially closed for reasons such as storms or operational emergencies shall not be deducted from Employees' annual Personal Emergency Leave.

Personal Emergency Leave days shall be a maximum of five (5) paid Working Days per annum and is reduced by any time used by the Employee. Personal Emergency Leave shall not be carried forward from year to year.

- (b) The day and the reason for a Personal Emergency Leave will be recorded on a Staff Report Form and all days taken will be approved by the Employee's Immediate Supervisor.
- (c) The Employer will consider, on a case-by-case basis, claims for Personal Emergency Leave in excess of that provided under this article where it has been requested in writing and the Employee has a long history of employment without Personal Emergency Leave claims. The Employer will not be arbitrary in its decision.
- (d) An Employee is expected to inform their Immediate Supervisor as soon as possible that the absence has become necessary.

31.09 Moving Day

When a non-probationary Employee, physically moves their household to a new residence, one moving Day with full salary and benefits shall be granted.

31.10 Compassionate Leave

(a) An Employee who has been employed for a period of at least three months and who is eligible for Employment Insurance under El Compassionate Care Benefits

Legislation is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to twenty-eight (28) weeks to provide care or support to a family member of the Employee as prescribed in the Nova Scotia Labour Standards Code and Regulations.

Employees applying for Compassionate Care Leave must fulfill all the requirements of Employment Insurance regulations. Eligibility, qualifying periods, applications and required medical certificates, and other information are available through the Employment Insurance Office or the Government of Canada web site.

- (b) The leave may only be taken during the period
 - (i) that begins with:
 - (a) the first day of the week in which the certificate is issued, or
 - (b) where the leave was begun before the certificate was issued, the first day of the week in which the leave was begun if the certificate is valid from any day in that week; and
 - (ii) that ends with the last day of the week in which either of the following occurs:
 - (a) the family member dies, or
 - (b) the expiration of eight weeks following the first day of the week referred to in clause 31.14 (b) (i).
- (c) A leave of absence under this article may only be taken in periods of not less than one week's duration.
- (d) For the period of time specified in this article, the Employer shall grant to the employee the option of maintaining a benefit plan in which the employee participated before the beginning of that period in accordance with existing University policy. The employee must arrange through Human Resources for continuation of benefits and arrange for the payment of this coverage in advance of the leave.
- (e) An employee shall advise the Employer as soon as possible when it appears that there is a need to take a leave of absence under this article.
- (f) An employee on compassionate leave shall give written notice to the Employer of their intention to return to work as soon as possible.
- (g) Where an employee reports for work upon the expiration of the Compassionate Leave, s/he shall be permitted to resume work in the same or comparable position to which s/he held prior to the commencement of the leave.

31.11 Domestic Violence Leave

A qualified Employee shall be granted Domestic Violence Leave in accordance with the provisions of the Nova Scotia Labour Standards Code. The Employer will provide up to five (5) days paid leave per calendar year.

31.12 Leave for Parent of Critically III Child

The Employer will provide an unpaid leave of absence of up to thirty-seven (37) weeks in accordance with section 60K to 60S of the *Labour Standards Code* for an employee who is a parent of a critically ill child.

31.13 Leave for a Critically III Adult

The Employer will provide an unpaid leave of absence of up to sixteen (16) weeks in accordance with sections 60SA to 60SG of the *Labour Standards Code* for an employee who is a family member of a critically ill adult.

31.14 Leave for Crime Related Child Death

The Employer will provide an unpaid leave of absence of up to one hundred and four (104) weeks in accordance with sections 60T, 60U, 60W & 60X of the Labour Standards Code for an employee who is the parent of a child who dies, and it is probable considering the circumstances that the child has died as a result of a crime.

31.15 Leave for Crime Related Child Disappearance

The Employer will provide an unpaid leave of absence of up to fifty-two (52) weeks in accordance with section 60T, 60V, 60W & 60X of the *Labour Standards Code* for an employee who is the parent of a child who disappears, and it is probable considering the circumstances that the child has disappeared as the result of a crime.

31.16 Volunteer Firefighters and Ground Search and Rescue

Subject to operational requirements, every consideration will be given to granting a leave of absence with pay to an employee who is a registered member of a volunteer fire department or volunteer ground search and rescue organization and who is called out during work hours.

ARTICLE 32 - PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL LEAVE

Pregnancy Leave

- 32.01 (a) A pregnant Employee who is qualified for pregnancy and parental leave under current legislation shall be entitled to Pregnancy and Parental Leave for up to seventy-eight (78) weeks.
 - (b) Where an Employee takes pregnancy leave pursuant to clause 32.01 and the Employee's newborn child or children arrive in the Employee's home during the pregnancy leave, parental leave:
 - (i) begins immediately upon completion of the pregnancy leave and without the Employee returning to work; and
 - (ii) ends not later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the commencement of the combined pregnancy and parental leave began, as determined by the Employee.
 - (c) A pregnant employee who does not qualify for pregnancy and parental leave under current legislation shall be entitled to an unpaid Leave of Absence for up to seventeen (17) weeks upon
 - (i) giving the Employer notice of the date that they will begin the leave and the date they will return to work, and

- (ii) providing to the Employer a certificate of a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that the Employee is pregnant and specifying the expected date of delivery.
- 32.02 A pregnant Employee, who has been employed by the Employer for at least six months, and qualifies for pregnancy and parental leave under current legislation, is entitled to a leave of absence to be remunerated in accordance with Article 32.06, for up to seventeen (17) weeks upon:
 - (a) giving the Employer notice of the date that they will begin the leave(s) and the date they will return to work; and
 - (b) providing to the Employer a certificate of a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that the Employee is pregnant and specifying the expected date of delivery.
- 32.03 The Employee shall determine the dates on which the leave begins and ends, except that the pregnancy leave shall begin:
 - (a) not sooner than twelve (12) weeks before the expected date of delivery, as the Employee determines;

The pregnancy leave shall end:

- (b) not sooner than one week after the date of delivery; and
- (c) not later than seventeen (17) weeks after your due date or the date you gave birth, whichever is later, or in the case of combined pregnancy and parental leave not later than seventy-eight (78) weeks, after the pregnancy leave began, pursuant to Article 32.01 (a) and 32.02 (a).
- 32.04 (a) Leave for illness of an employee arising out of or associated with the Employee's pregnancy prior to the commencement of, or the ending of pregnancy leave granted in accordance with this Article, may be granted sick leave in accordance with the provisions of Article 30.
 - (b) Where the duties of a pregnant Employee cannot be reasonably performed or the performance of the Employee's work is materially affected by their pregnancy, the Employer will make all reasonable efforts to accommodate the Employee. All requests for accommodation will be based on a medical certificate provided by a qualified medical practitioner.
- 32.05 The Employee shall advise their immediate Supervisor in writing that they are applying for pregnancy and/or parental leave and file the required documents in accordance with the above procedure before the leave arrangements are finalized by the Employer.
- 32.06 Subject to the terms and conditions of the Supplementary Employment Benefits Plan (Appendix C), the Employer shall supplement an Employee's Employment Insurance Benefits and other earnings for a maximum period of sixteen (16) weeks during the Employee's pregnancy leave. In addition, for the first one (1) week of the pregnancy leave, the Employee shall receive 95% of the Employee's salary.
- 32.07 Before proceeding on pregnancy leave, each Employee claiming benefits shall sign an undertaking on a prescribed form that they will return to work at the end of their pregnancy leave, or any authorized extension thereof, and remain in the University's employ for a period of at least seventeen (17) weeks thereafter. Should an Employee fail to return to work or return for a period of less than seventeen (17) weeks, the University shall review each case on its own merits and may, at its option, require the

- Employee to repay all or part of the benefits received under the Supplementary Employment Benefits Plan.
- 32.08 When the Employee reports for work upon the expiration of the period of leave, they shall resume work in the same position or, if the position has been eliminated, a comparable position to that which they held prior to the commencement of the pregnancy leave at no lower rate of pay and with no loss of benefits accrued to the commencement of the pregnancy leave.
- 32.09 Where there is a newborn child and there is continuous hospitalization or death of the mother who is the Spouse of an Employee of the University, if the Employee is not taking parental leave as per Article 32.12, a period of unpaid leave up to seventeen (17) weeks, or in the case of combined pregnancy and parental leave, seventy-eight (78) weeks, shall be available to the Employee under the provisions of the pregnancy and/or parental leave clause.

32.10 Parental Leave

- (a) An Employee who qualifies for parental leave under current legislation and who becomes a parent of one or more children through:
 - (i) the birth of the child or children; or
 - (ii) the placement of the child or children in the care of the Employee for the purpose of adoption of the child or children pursuant to the law of the Province of Nova Scotia.

is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to seventy-eight (78) weeks upon giving the University notice of the date that the Employee will begin the leave and the date that the Employee will return to work.

- (b) Where parental leave is not continuous with pregnancy leave, it:
 - (i) begins on such date, coinciding with or after the birth of the child or children or the child or children first arriving in the Employee's home; and
 - (ii) ends not later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the parental leave begins.
- (c) Where an Employee has begun parental leave pursuant to 32.01 (b) or 32.11 (a) (i) and the child to whom the parental leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding or likely to exceed one (1) week, the Employee is entitled to return to and resume work and defer the unused portion of the parental leave until the child is discharged from the hospital, upon giving the Employer notice. There will be only one interruption and deferral of each parental leave.
- 32.11 An Employee other than an Employee in receipt of leave as per Article 32.06, who has been employed by the University for at least one (1) year, who becomes the parent of one or more children through the birth of a child or children, or placement of a child or children through adoption pursuant to the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia, and who is in receipt of parental leave benefits under the terms of the Employment Insurance Act, shall be entitled to the benefit of the Supplementary Employment Benefits Insurance Plan (Appendix C) for a period of ten (10) weeks during the parental leave.
- 32.12 In order to provide the Employer with as much advanced notice as possible in the event of adoption, an Employee should provide a copy of their approved Application for Adoption to the Human Resources Office.

- 32.13 When the Employee reports for work upon the expiration of the period of parental leave, they shall resume work in the same position or, if the position has been eliminated, a comparable position to that which they held prior to the commencement of the parental leave at no lower rate of pay and with no loss of benefits accrued to the commencement of the parental leave.
- 32.14 An Employee who becomes a parent of one or more children through
 - (i) The birth of the child or children
 - or the placement of the child or children in the care of the Employee for the purpose of adoption of the child or children pursuant to the law of the Province of Nova Scotia

who is the spouse of the primary caregiver, and not in receipt of benefits as per Article 32.06 or Article 32.12, shall be granted special leave with pay and benefits for up to a maximum of five (5) Days.

<u>ARTICLE 33 – DEFERRED SALARY LEAVE</u>

33.01 Purpose

The purpose of the Deferred Salary Leave Plan is to afford Employees the opportunity to take a leave of absence of one (1) year and, through the deferral of salary, finance the leave.

33.02 Eligibility

Participation in this plan is limited to Regular Full Time or Regular Part Time Employees. An Employee may apply for such leave once every eight (8) years of continuous service.

33.03 Application

An application to participate in this plan must be submitted to the Director of Human Resources not later than six (6) months prior to the month in which the salary deferment is to commence.

33.04 Approval

Approval to participate in this plan is at the sole discretion of the Employer.

- (a) The Employer shall inform the Employee of its decision not later than three (3) months prior to the month in which the salary deferment would commence.
- (b) The Union shall be notified of the Employer's decision on each application.

33.05 Conditions

- (a) The terms and conditions governing the deferred leave arrangements will be mutually agreed to, in writing, by the Employer, Union and Employee and shall conform to all laws and government legislation applicable to such plans.
- (b) While an Employee is enrolled in the Plan and not on Leave, any benefits tied to salary shall be structured according to the salary the Employee would have received had the Employee not been enrolled in the Plan. All other benefits shall be in accordance with the Collective Agreement.
- (c) Unless otherwise instructed in writing by the Employee, all benefits of the Employee shall be maintained during the Leave; however, the full costs of all benefits shall be paid by the Employee during the Leave from the monies

- retained for the Employee by the University to finance the Leave, save those required to be paid by the University by law.
- (d) While the Employee is on Leave, any benefits tied to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the Employee would have received in the equivalent period prior to taking the leave had the Employee not been enrolled in the plan.
- (e) During the leave, the Employee shall not accumulate nor be entitled to the following:
 - (i) Vacation, statutory holidays, pregnancy, parental, adoption leave, sick leave or other leaves;
 - (ii) Credit for service for severance pay for the period of the leave;
 - (iii) Credit for the leave period for seniority purposes.

33.06 Return to Regular Assignment

- (a) Upon completion of the leave the Employee shall return to the University for a period that is not less than the period of the leave.
- (b) Upon completion of the leave, the Employee shall be reinstated to the position held immediately prior to the leave. If the position no longer exists, the Employee shall be subject to the provisions of Article 24 Layoffs and Recalls.

33.07 Withdrawal from the Plan

- (a) An Employee who ceases to be employed by the University or is laid off in accordance with Article 24 Layoffs and Recall during the period of the deferral shall withdraw from the plan.
- (b) In extenuating circumstances such as, but not limited to, financial hardship or serious illness and with the approval of the University, an Employee may withdraw from the Plan not later than three (3) months prior to the date established for the Leave. Notwithstanding the three (3) month notice period, the University may, where operational requirements permit, accept a lesser notice period. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (c) If an Employee withdraws from the plan, the Employee shall be paid a lump sum adjustment equal to any monies deferred plus interest accrued. Repayment shall be made as soon as possible within sixty (60) days of withdrawal from the plan.
- (d) Should an Employee die while participating in the plan, any monies accumulated plus interest accrued at the time of death shall be paid to the beneficiary specified in the life insurance policy of health and welfare benefits or to the Employee's estate within two (2) semi-monthly pay periods where possible.

ARTICLE 34 – RESIGNATION

34.01 If an Employee decides to terminate employment, they shall forward a letter of resignation to the Employer not less than ten (10) Days prior to the effective date of termination provided, however, that the Employer may accept a shorter period of notice.

- 34.02 An Employee who has resigned may withdraw their resignation within two (2) working days unless they submit their resignation on a Friday in which case they may withdraw their resignation within (1) working day.
- 34.03 An Employee who fails to give notice required in this Article shall be struck from the payroll effective the Day they are absent without leave.
- 34.04 An Employee who is absent from their employment without permission for ten (10) consecutive Days, shall be deemed to have resigned their position effective the first Day of absence.
- 34.05 The Employee may be reinstated if they establish to the satisfaction of the Employer, that the absence arose from a cause beyond the Employee's control and it was not possible for the Employee to notify the University of the reason for the absence.
- 34.06 An Employee, upon separation from the University, shall be compensated for vacation leave to which they are entitled.
- 34.07 An Employee, upon separation from the University, shall compensate the Employer for vacation which was taken but to which the Employee was not entitled.

ARTICLE 35 – RETIREMENT

- 35.01 Employees shall advise the Employer in writing of their retirement at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of retirement.
- 35.02 The Employer may consider requests for early retirement from Employees who are at least fifty-five (55) years of age. The terms of early retirement shall be as agreed between the Employer and the Employee concerned.

ARTICLE 36 - BENEFIT PLANS

36.01 For the purpose of this Article, the insured benefit plans refer to the following:

Pension

Life Insurance/Accidental Death and Dismemberment

Short Term Disability

Long Term Disability

Extended Health

Dental

Travel Insurance (Medical)

Employee and Family Assistance Plan (EFAP)

Supplemental Employment Insurance for Pregnancy Leave and/or Parental Leave

36.02 (a) The Employer shall continue the existing arrangements for insured Benefit plans based on the existing cost sharing arrangements unless modified by mutual agreement of the parties, with the following exception:

Drug Co-Pay \$3.00

Eligibility for participation in benefit plans shall be in accordance with the terms and conditions of those plans. Appendix "D" outlines the terms and conditions of Employee eligibility for membership in the plans.

(b) Notwithstanding (a), for Employees who have reached the age of sixty-five (65), shall be entitled to the benefits listed below, based on the existing cost sharing arrangements:

Life Insurance 1.25 times salary, ceasing at age 70 AD & D 1.25 times salary, ceasing at age 70

Health – Paramedical Range of \$10 - \$30 per visit/service, ceasing at age 70 Health – Vision \$125.00 every two years including exam, ceasing at age

70

Drug – Co-pay \$3.00, ceasing at age 70

Dental Co-insurance 100% Basic, no deductible, Major 70%,

ceasing at age 70

Travel Out of country coverage, ceasing at age 70

- (c) Not withstanding (b) for Employees who have reached age 65 neither Short Term Disability or Long Term Disability are available.
- 36.03 The Employer agrees to maintain a Joint Benefits Committee representative of interested Bargaining Units, and University administration, to consider matters relating to Employee benefit programs, including the administration of, participation in, and contribution to benefit programs. The Committee shall oversee all Employee benefits and shall make recommendations concerning changes in such benefits. The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times per year unless the Committee agrees to meet less frequently.
- 36.04 The Union shall continue to have the right to appoint two (2) representatives to be members of the Joint Benefits Committee.
- 36.05 The Director of Human Resources shall maintain information on benefit plans and employment practices, which shall be provided to each new Employee and to other Employees upon request.
- 36.06 Employees shall be eligible to participate in Canada Savings Bonds and the Registered Retirement Savings Plans as presently established by the Employer through payroll deductions.
- 36.07 Additional Life Insurance will be made available to Employees who wish to participate at their own total expense and subject to the terms and conditions of the plans currently available through the Employer.
- 36.08 (a) Effective January 1, 2005, the Employer shall contribute into the Pension Plan, eight percent (8%) of a participating Employee's regular annual salary. Each participating Employee shall contribute into the Pension Plan six percent (6%) of their regular annual salary. An Employee may make additional contributions into the Pension Plan up to the limit allowed by Canada Revenue Agency.
 - (b) Notwithstanding (a), CRA rules govern and may limit the Employer's ability to contribute to the pension based on the Employee's age.
- 36.09 To the extent permitted by the terms and conditions of Employee benefit plans, Employees on unpaid leave shall have the option to participate in such benefit plans provided they pay both the Employer and Employee portions of all the required premiums.

- 36.10 The eligibility of an Employee on unpaid leave for Short Term Disability and/or Long Term Disability is subject to the terms and conditions of the benefit plans.
- 36.11 When permitted by the terms and conditions of the relevant Employee benefit plans, the Short Term Disability benefits and the Long Term Disability qualifying period shall commence on the day the Employee was scheduled to return to work following the period of unpaid leave.

<u>ARTICLE 37 - KILOMETERAGE</u>

Provided the proper travel claim form is submitted to the Business Office, Employees who are authorized to use their personal vehicles for the Employer's business shall be entitled to reimbursement for kilometerage at the prevailing University rate, but such reimbursement shall not include personal transportation to and from the University except as provided in Article 27.

ARTICLE 38 - PROTECTIVE APPARATUS

- **38.01** Employees who are required by the Employer to wear safety footwear, shall be provided with one pair of safety footwear every twelve (12) months to a maximum value of two hundred **and fifty** dollars (\$250.00). Such footwear shall be worn by the Employees affected during work hours in the work location concerned.
- 38.02 The Employer shall provide protective gloves, masks, goggles, aprons, and other apparatus as may be required to ensure a safe working environment.
- 38.03 Employees who are required by the Employer to wear a uniform shall be provided with three (3) pairs of work pants, five (5) shirts, one (1) pair of painters pants, and one (1) sweater every twelve (12) months. One (1) outdoor jacket will be provided as needed but not sooner than every thirty-six (36) months. Such uniforms shall not be worn for personal use and be worn by the Employees affected during work hours in the location concerned.

ARTICLE 39 - TERM EMPLOYEES

- 39.01 A Term Employee may apply for any position in the Bargaining Unit which occurs during the Term appointment. If successful, and subject to Article 39.04, the period of employment in the Term position shall count as service and seniority upon completion of the Probationary Period as a regular Full-Time, Regular Part Time or Sessional Employee.
- 39.02 The Employer may terminate a Term appointment at any time with two (2) weeks' notice or pay in lieu thereof.
- 39.03 Terms and conditions of employment for Term Employees shall be according to the Collective Agreement except that the articles listed below shall not apply.
 - Article 24 Layoffs and Recalls
 - Article 31.06 Political Service Leave

- Article 32 Pregnancy and Parental Leave
- Article 33 Deferred Salary Leave
- Article 35 Retirement
- Article 36 Benefit Plans (except to the extent that is allowed under the terms of the Benefit Plans) *
- Article 46 Professional/Career Development and Training
- Article 47- Job Sharing
- * See Appendix "D" Benefits Eligibility for NSGEU Employees for a description of Benefit Plan Eligibility.
- 39.04 Current bargaining unit members who are Regular or Sessional Employees and apply for, and are the successful applicants for Term Positions, shall retain their status as a Regular or Sessional Employee and shall return to their original position at the completion of the Term Position. These members are not subjected to the exclusions of Article 39.03 (above).
- 39.05 Should a Term Position become a permanent position within the Bargaining Unit, the position shall be posted as per Article 14.

ARTICLE 40 – PAYMENT FOR CERTIFICATES AND EXAMINATIONS

Where, pursuant to this Agreement, the Employer requests that an Employee submit a medical certificate or report, or where an examination is requested, the Employer shall be responsible for paying the full costs of any such examinations, medical certification forms or reports.

ARTICLE 41 – JOB EVALUATION

- 41.01 (a) The parties agree that all jobs in the Bargaining Unit shall be evaluated and a classification established
 - (i) when a new job is created;
 - (ii) where the Employee or their Immediate Supervisor requests reevaluation after no less than twenty-four (24) months from the last evaluation; or
 - (iii) when there has been significant changes to the job duties.
 - (iv) in any case, all Position Descriptions will be reviewed annually by the Supervisor and the Employee.
 - (b) Within ten (10) days of the request, the Supervisor will provide the Employee with a copy of the latest Position Description and Job Analysis Questionnaire. The Human Resources Office shall use an approved Position Description and completed Job Analysis Questionnaire for each position in the Bargaining Unit and evaluate the job content using the evaluation instrument that has been developed entitled NSCAD University Job Evaluation Manual NSGEU Local 82 in existence as of the date of signing of this Agreement

- (c) Prior to evaluating each position, an updated Position Description shall be forwarded by the Immediate Supervisor to the Human Resources Office and each Employee shall receive a Job Analysis Questionnaire and updated Position Description for their position.
- (d) Evaluation shall be completed within thirty (30) days of the Human Resources Office receiving both the completed questionnaire and the updated Position Description from the Employee.
- (e) Where the questionnaire and the updated Position Description indicate that there are no significant changes to duties, the evaluation will not be done and the Employee and the Union will be notified.
- (f) The Human Resources Office shall notify each Employee and the Union of the factor scores and classification total for their position upon completion of the Job Evaluation. The Employee shall be notified if there is no significant change to the Position Description and therefore, no change to the classification.

41.02 Appeals

An Employee may appeal the Job Evaluation results to the Job Evaluation Committee by submitting a written request for an appeal to the Director of Human Resources within thirty (30) days of having received notification in accordance with 42.01 (e). The written request should state the reason(s) for the request and include supporting information, if possible.

41.03 Job Evaluation Committee

The Job Evaluation Committee will oversee any amendments and on-going administration of the NSCAD Policy for Job Evaluation of members of NSGEU Local 82.

- (a) The parties agree that a Job Evaluation Committee consisting of two (2) Employees named by the Union, one of whom shall be an alternate, and two (2) persons named by the Employer, one of whom shall be an alternate, none of whom shall be the Analyst who rated the job.
- (b) Members of the Committee shall have equal access to all materials required to determine job classification levels.
- (c) The Committee may also seek written submissions from the Employee, Immediate Supervisor and Job Analyst regarding points for clarification, and if it deems it necessary, the Employee, Immediate Supervisor and Job Analyst may be requested to meet with the Committee to provide information.
- (d) In its deliberations the Job Evaluation Committee may consult with a qualified impartial person who is affiliated neither with the Employer nor the Union. The Parties shall cost-share the fees and expenses of the qualified impartial person.
- (e) The findings of the Committee will be submitted to the Employer and the Union within thirty (30) days of the date the written appeal was received by the Director of Human Resources.
- (f) The Employer shall then notify each Employee of the factor scores and classification total for their position upon completion of the Job Evaluation Appeal.

- 41.04 Any salary adjustment resulting from the review shall be retroactive to the date the completed Job Analysis Questionnaire is received by the Director of Human Resources, except that newly created positions shall be adjusted in accordance with Article 41.07.
- 41.05 Where job reclassification or evaluation results in moving to a higher classification, no decrease in salary shall result.
- 41.06 Where job reclassification results in moving to a lower classification, the Employee's salary shall be maintained until it may be slotted into a higher step in the appropriate salary scale as follows:
 - (a) If the Employee's salary is greater than the maximum step for the new classification, it shall be maintained until exceeded by such maximum and increased to the new maximum at that time.
 - (b) If the Employee's salary is within the range established for the new classification, it shall be maintained until the next normal anniversary date and increased to the next higher step at that time.
- 41.07 Newly created positions within the Bargaining Unit shall be provisionally rated before applicants are recruited. All provisional ratings will be reviewed and a rating confirmed within nine (9) months of the assignment of the provisional rating.
 - (a) The employer will notify employees at six (6) months that their provisional classification is due and provided with the job evaluation questionnaire and current position description. The employee will have forty-five (45) days to submit the job questionnaire. If no questionnaire is received within 45 days, the employer will determine that there are no significant changes to duties, the evaluation will not be done, and the Employee and the Union will be notified.
 - (b) Should the review result in the position moving to a higher classification, the salary adjustment shall be retroactive to six (6) months from the date of hire in the new position. Should the review result in the position moving to a lower classification, Article 41.06 shall apply.
 - (c) Should an internal employee compete and be awarded a newly created position within the bargaining unit and the position is reclassified within twenty-four (24) months, the reclassification will be treated as a promotion and be paid in accordance with Article 26.06.
- 41.08 Results of the Job Evaluation process and the Job Evaluation Appeal process are not subject to grievance and arbitration.

ARTICLE 42- GRIEVANCE

- 42.01 Any difference arising between the Employer and the Employee covered by the Agreement relating to the meaning, interpretation, or application of this Agreement, including allegations that the Agreement has been violated, may be the subject of a grievance and shall be processed in the manner following.
- 42.02 The parties agree to make every reasonable effort to encourage an informal, amicable, and prompt settlement of grievances.
- 42.03 Employee(s) who feel that they have a grievance shall first discuss the matter with the Immediate Supervisor within fifteen (15) Working Days of the events giving rise to the

grievance. If the Employee's Immediate Supervisor is a member of the Bargaining Unit, the Employee shall discuss the matter with the manager responsible for the area in which they work. The Employee may have a steward or another Union representative present.

The Immediate Supervisor shall respond to the complaint within three (3) Working Days of the discussion.

When any dispute cannot be settled by the foregoing informal procedure, the following formal grievance procedure may be invoked.

Where an Employee alleges that they have been discharged in violation of Article 20.02, a grievance may be filed at Step Two of the grievance procedure.

42.04 Employee Grievances

Step 1

If the Employee or the Union is not satisfied with the response of the Immediate Supervisor, the Employee may, within twenty-five (25) Working Days of the response in the informal procedure, present the grievance in writing to the Director of Human Resources who shall make every effort to reach a mutually satisfactory solution. The Director of Human Resources shall give a written reply within ten (10) Working Days of the filing of the grievance.

Step 2

Failing settlement being reached in Step 1, the Employee concerned, assisted by a representative of the Union and/or a steward of the Employee's choice, may within ten (10) Working Days of issuance of the decision in Step 1, submit the matter to the Vice-President, Finance and Administration in writing. The Vice-President, Finance and Administration shall give a written reply within ten (10) Working Days of the filing of the grievance at Step 2.

Step 3

Failing a satisfactory settlement being reached in Step 2, the Union may, within ten (10) Working Days of the issuance of the decision at Step 2, give notice in writing to the Employer of its intention to refer the dispute to arbitration. Any proposed settlement of the grievance presented at Steps 1 and 2, and any replies, must accompany the notice of intention to proceed to arbitration when it is presented to the Employer at this level.

42.05 Employer Grievances

The Employer shall file an Employer grievance by forwarding a grievance in writing to the President of the Union Local within twenty-five (25) Working Days of the events giving rise to the grievance. Within ten (10) Working Days following receipt of the grievance, the President of the Union Local or his or her representative shall meet with the Employer's representative(s) to attempt to resolve the grievance. The President of the Union Local shall, within ten (10) Working Days of the meeting, give a reply in writing to the Employer. If the grievance is not resolved according to this procedure, the Employer may, within ten (10) Working Days of the receipt of the Union Local President's decision, submit the grievance to arbitration.

42.06 Union Grievances

The Union shall file a Union grievance by forwarding a grievance in writing to the Employer within twenty-five (25) Working Days of the events giving rise to the grievance.

Within ten (10) Working Days following receipt of the grievance, the Employer and or representatives(s) shall meet with the Union's representative(s) to attempt to resolve the grievance. The Employer shall, within ten (10) Working Days of the meeting, give a reply in writing to the Union. If the grievance is not resolved according to this procedure, the Union may, within ten (10) Working Days of the receipt of the Employer's decision, submit the grievance to arbitration.

- 42.07 In order for grievances to be properly processed, written grievances must be submitted on the prescribed form, must specify the section(s) of this Agreement alleged to have been misinterpreted, misapplied, or violated, and must specify the redress sought.
- 42.08 Any step of the grievance procedure may be omitted by the mutual consent of both parties in writing.
- 42.09 The time limits and procedures may be extended or modified by mutual agreement of the Employer and the Union in writing.
- 42.10 Unless there is written agreement between the parties to extend time limits per Article 42.09, the grievant(s) may proceed to the next step if the written reply to a grievance is not issued within the required time limits.
- 42.11 A grievance should not be defeated by formal or technical objections and the parties should allow all necessary amendments to the grievance and waive formal procedural irregularities in the processing of the grievance in order to determine the real matter in dispute. However, if the grievant has not exercised due diligence in abiding by the applicable time limits, the grievance shall be considered abandoned and at an end.

ARTICLE 43 - ARBITRATION

- 43.01 In accordance with the provisions of Article 42.04 ("Step 3"), the party wishing to proceed to arbitration shall in its written notice of intention to arbitrate include the name of its nominee to the Arbitration Board. No matter may be submitted to arbitration unless the grievance has been carried through all the steps of the grievance procedure. The party receiving such notice shall, within and not later than ten (10) Working Days of the receipt of such notice, advise the other party of the name of its nominee to the Arbitration Board. The two (2) nominees so appointed shall within seven (7) Working Days of the appointment of the second nominee attempt to agree upon a third person as chairperson. In the event that the nominees are unable to agree upon a chairperson, within ten (10) Working Days of appointment, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon the request of either party.
- 43.02 The parties may agree on a single Arbitrator instead of a Board, in which event, the provisions of this article shall apply, similarly, to such single Arbitrator.
- 43.03 When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to arbitration, the request shall be made by certified mail or personal delivery addressed to the other party.
- 43.04 The Arbitration Board (or single Arbitrator) may determine its own procedures, but shall give full opportunity to both parties to present evidence and make representations to it. The Arbitration Board (or single Arbitrator) shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and render a decision as expeditiously as possible after the Chairperson is appointed.
- 43.05 Both parties understand that the Arbitration Board (or single Arbitrator) shall confine itself to the grievance submitted to arbitration and shall not determine any other issue(s)

- except that the Arbitration Board (or Arbitrator) shall have the power to determine whether any particular grievance is arbitrable.
- 43.06 Both parties understand that the Arbitration Board (or single Arbitrator) shall not alter, add to, amend, or modify any of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 43.07 Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of its nominee to the Arbitration Board and one-half of the fees and expenses of the Chairperson or single Arbitrator not paid by the Minister of Labour.
- 43.08 The time limits and procedures may be extended or modified by written agreement of both parties to this Agreement.
- 43.09 At any stage of the arbitration procedure, the parties may have access to the Employee(s) concerned as witnesses and all reasonable arrangements will be made to permit the grievant(s) or Arbitrator(s) to have access to the Employer's premises to view any working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance.

ARTICLE 44 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement, including any changes mutually agreed upon in writing or any document expressly incorporated into this Agreement by virtue of being specifically identified below, represents the entire Agreement between the parties.

- (a) Appendices to this Agreement;
- (b) Memorandum of Agreement appended to this Agreement; and
- (c) Supplemental Employment Insurance Income Plan for Pregnancy Leave and Approved Parental (Adoption) Leaves.

ARTICLE 45 - VALIDITY

- 45.01 If any article in this Agreement or part thereof is altered or rendered invalid by the operation of existing or future legislation, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the remainder of its term.
- 45.02 The Employer shall notify the Union of any conflicts which come to the attention of the Employer between this Agreement and such laws, regulations, or rulings.
- 45.03 Any portion of this Agreement that is so altered or invalidated shall, on the request of either party, be negotiated by the Employer and the Union and shall be replaced or altered as may be mutually agreed between the parties.

ARTICLE 46 - PROFESSIONAL/CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

- 46.01 The Employer recognizes that continued professional/career development and training is important to the effectiveness of employees and beneficial to the University.
- 46.02 The Employer will consider, on a case-by-case basis, an application for education leave with or without pay for a period up to one (1) year, which can be renewed by mutual agreement, to attend a recognized institution for additional or special studies in some field of education in which special preparation is needed to enable the Employee to meet the requirements of their current position or to undertake studies in another area which will assist them in qualifying for opportunities for advancement within NSCAD.

- (a) Written application for education leave shall be submitted to the Immediate Supervisor three (3) months prior to the commencement of the leave, with a copy to the Union local.
- (b) An Employee granted leave under this article shall suffer no loss of seniority and upon return to the University, shall return to their former position.
- (c) The University shall maintain coverage for its share of Employee benefits for Employees on education leave.
- 46.03 The University shall provide training required for an Employee to operate equipment, software, or administrative systems or procedures, the purchase or introduction of which has been duly authorized.

46.04 Tuition Waivers

- (a) Employees who work 50% FTE or greater, their spouses, and dependents in their immediate family may enroll in credit or non-credit courses in the University at one-half the usual tuition fee (studio fees and other fees are to be paid in full). Employees who work less than 50%FTE, their spouses, and dependents in their immediate family may enroll in credit or non-credit courses in the University at three-quarters the usual tuition fee (studio fees and other fees are to be paid in full). Employees may audit classes offered by the University without credit and without charge. All audits are subject to the permission of the instructor of the respective course, when space is available, after all paying students have had an opportunity to enroll.
- (b) Courses taken at the University shall normally be scheduled during non-working hours. Employees shall obtain a leave pursuant to Article 31.13 for any course or program taken during working hours.

46.05 Job Related Courses

- (a) The Employer may request employees to enroll in job-related courses or programs. In such cases all expenses will be paid by the Employer.
- (b) The Employer will consider on a case by case basis, requests for training to upgrade an Employee's skills.

ARTICLE 47 – JOB SHARING

47.01 The University will consider requests for job sharing. The decision on entering into a job sharing arrangement shall be at the sole discretion of the Employer and not subject to grievance or arbitration.

47.02 Terms and Conditions

The Terms and conditions governing job-sharing arrangements will be as mutually agreed to by the Union and the Employer.

47.03 Part of Collective Agreement

The terms and conditions of job sharing arrangements agreed to by the parties will form part of the Collective Agreement.

47.04 Rights and Benefits

Except as otherwise provided herein, Employees participating in job-sharing arrangements will be entitled to all rights and benefits provided for in the Collective Agreement.

47.05 Existing Employees Only

Job sharing will only be permitted when jointly requested by existing Employees and those employed in job sharing situations will continue to be members of the bargaining unit and be covered by the Agreement.

47.06 Operational Requirements

Job sharing arrangements will only be authorized where operational requirements permit and the provision of services is not adversely affected.

47.07 Qualifications

Both Employees in a job sharing arrangement must be permanent Employees, one of who is the incumbent of the position to be job-shared. Both Employees must share the same job classification/title and be suitably qualified and capable of carrying out the full time duties and responsibilities of the position to be job shared.

47.08 Identification of Job Share

An Employee wishing to job share her position has the responsibility of finding an eligible Employee willing to enter into the job sharing arrangement. The two (2) Employees requesting approval to implement a job sharing arrangement will submit an application to the Director of Human Resources.

47.09 Period of Job Share

A position will be shared for a minimum of twelve (12) months. Any extension beyond the twelve (12) month term must be mutually acceptable to both Employees, the Employer and the Union. At the end of the job sharing period, the Employees will resume the full time position they held prior to entering into the job sharing arrangement.

47.10 Work Schedule Requirements

Each of the two (2) Employees in a job sharing arrangement will be required to fulfill one-half (1/2) of the full time work schedule requirements.

47.11 Notice

If either participant or the Employer wishes to terminate the job sharing arrangement prior to its expiry, a minimum of sixty (60) calendar days' written notice shall be required.

47.12 Costs

The parties agree that, except for the cost of benefits provided for under this Article and/or the Collective Agreement, there shall be no added cost to the Employer directly resulting from any job sharing arrangement.

ARTICLE 48 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

48.01 <u>Duration and Renewal</u>

This Agreement shall be in effect for a term beginning July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2027. After June 30, 2027, this Agreement shall be automatically renewed thereafter for successive periods of twelve (12) months unless either party requests the negotiation of a new Agreement by giving written notice to the other party within the two (2) month period preceding the date of expiry of the Agreement.

48.02 Effective Date of the Agreement

Unless otherwise stipulated in this Agreement, revision of the articles of this Agreement shall be effective the date of ratification of this Agreement.

48.03 Retroactive Pay for Terminated Employees

Employees who have left their employment in the bargaining unit between July 1, 2023 and the date of this Agreement shall be entitled to full retroactivity of any applicable wage increase. Such Employees shall be given written notice by registered mail sent by the Employer the Employee's last known address given to the Employer, that they have sixty (60) calendar Days in which to claim any retroactive payment.

Signed at Halifax, Nova Scotia, this	day of
On Behalf of the Employer:	On Behalf of the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees
Jennifer Lewis Director, Human Resources	Sandra Mullen NSGEU President
Daniel Chisholm Human Resources Advisor	Norbert Caparica Local 82 Bargaining Committee Frederick Harvey Local 82 Bargaining Committee
	Tony Bremner NSGEU Lead Negotiator Terrance Callaghan NSGEU Employee Relations Officer

The parties recognize that this contract has been signed on unceded Mi'kmaq territory.

APPENDIX "A" - CERTIFICATION ORDER

Appendix "A"



36

L.R.S. No. 3623 (400, 23)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

IN THE HATTER of the Trade Union Act of Hove Scotia, and

IN THE MATTER of Hove Scotic Soverament Employees Union guite 509
4080 Young Street

6080 Toung Street Malifax, Nova Scotia BJK 512

" and "
Nova Sootia College of Art and Design

Nova Scotia College of Art and Day 5163 Duke Street Balifar, Bova Scotia 313 336 Applicant

Respondent

APPLICATION baving been made to the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) on May 4, 1990, for Certification of the Applicant as Bargaining Agent, pursuent to the Trade Union Act;

AND the Board having conducted a vote on May 11, 1990, is accordance with Section 25 (1) of the Trade Union Act;

AND the Application having been contested by the Respondent, but no Rearing held;

AND the Board having been satisfied that forty percent or more of the employees in an appropriate Bargaining Unit are members in good standing of the Applicant in accordance with Section 23 (1) of the Trade Union Act and with Regulation 10 governing procedure of the Board;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the majority of those employees in the Unit determined by the Board to be appropriate, cast ballots in favour of the Applicant Trade Union;

THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) does hereby certify the Mova Scotia Government Employees Union, Halifer, Nova Scotia, as the Bargaining Agent for a Bargaining Unit consisting of all full-time and regular part-time employees employed by the Board of Governors of the Nova Scotia College of Art and Design as Maintenance, Clerical, Secretarial Staff, and other Staff, but excluding all employees included in the Bargaining Unit set out in L.R.S. Order No. 3134, all employees included in the Bargaining Unit set out in L.R.S. Order No. 3296, all Student Assistants, and excluding the classifications as described in Schedule "A", and those persons excluded by Faragraphs (a) and (b) of Subsection (2) of Section 2 of the Trade Union Act, being Chapter 475 of the Revised Statutes of Nova Scotia 1989.

MADE BY THE LABOUR RELATIONS SOARD (NOVA SCOTIA) AT EALIPAX, THIS TWENTY-RIGHTE DAY OF JUNE 1990, AND SIGNED ON ITS BRHALP BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

K. M. Horne Chief Executive Officer

APPENDIX "A" - Page 2 - Excluded Employees From NSGEU, Local 82

FUNSCAD Unit I and Individual Course Appointees FUNSCAD Unit II

Administrative Assistant to the Office of Academic Affairs and Research

Administrative Assistant to the Office of University Relations

Executive Assistant to VP, Finance and Administration

Administrative Assistant, President's Office

Building Manager, Port Campus

Coordinator of Academic Programs

Dean

Director of Admissions and Enrollment Services

Director of Computing Services

Director of Communications

Director School of Extended Studies

Director of Facilities Management

Director of Finance / Controller

Director of Human Resources

Stewardship Coordinator

Executive Assistant, Office of Academic Affairs and Research

Executive Assistant to the President

Manager, School Store

Manager of Compensation and Benefits

President

Registrar and Director of Student Services

Senior Secretary for Governance

Provost and Vice-President, Academic Affairs and Research

Vice-President, Finance and Administration

Vice-President, University Relations

Director of University Relations (Alumni and Development)

Director of University Relations (Development)

APPENDIX "B" - Seniority List -2024

	HIRE	Year	Service	Name	
1	25-Aug-99	1990	36	Pottie	Theresa
2	10-Oct-05	2005	18	Brine	Tori
3	02-Apr-07	2007	17	Simmons	Gerri
4	05-Feb-18	2018	6	Warriner	Eli
5	09-May-19	2019	5	Buckley	Greg
6	17-Jun-19	2019	5	Spielmann Rose	Kizi
7	01-Oct-19	2019	5	Fenerty	Heather
8	12-Jul-21	2021	3	Ye	Qiao (Jonas)
9	19-Jul-21	2021	3	Meshkat	Seyedamin
10	15-Nov-21	2022	2	Nao	Haoming
11	13-Dec-21	2022	2	Bourgoin	Samantha
12	09-May-22	2022	2	Caparica	Norbert
13	06-Jun-22	2022	2	Harvey	Fred
14	04-Jul-22	2022	2	Poole	Mike
15	22-Aug-22	2022	1	Tulloch	Lauren
16	17-Oct-22	2022	1	Mills	Tara
17	05-Dec-22	2022	1	Shanahan	Emily
18	16-Dec-22	2022	1	Zhang	Judy
19	15-Jan-23	2023	1	Lewis	Karen
20	01-Jun-23	2023	0	Solberg	Amber
21	12-Jun-23	2023	0	Johnson	Jessica
22	21-Aug-23	2023	0	Gough	Zach
23	01-Sep-23	2023	0	Arcand	Pierre
24	05-Oct-23	2023	0	Guerrero	Dafne
25	02-Dec-23	2023	0	McGuire	Caitlin
26	01-Feb-24	2024	0	Gweneth	Maxwell
27	01-Apr-24	2024	0	Hsueh	Jenny

APPENDIX "C" - SUPPLEMENTARY EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Purpose

The purpose of the plan is to supplement Employment Insurance benefits paid during periods of pregnancy leave to Employees of NSGEU Local 82 of NSCAD University certified by the Nova Scotia Labor Relations Board.

Term of Agreement

The term of the plan will coincide with the term of the Collective Agreement signed
and all subsequent agreements which provide the leave to be supported under a similar plan. The plan will be effective on the date of signing of the current Collective Agreement between the parties.

Administration

The University will administer the plan and, subject to the provisions of the Collective Agreement and the provisions contained herein, will be the only authority for determining eligibility for benefits under the plan.

Plan Funding

The University's contribution to the plan will be paid from operating funds. A separate accounting will be maintained on all plan payments. Since no trust fund will be established, the Employees will have no vested interest in such a fund.

Eligibility

Any Employee, as per Article 32 of the Collective Agreement, will be eligible for benefits under the plan, provided the Employee has:

- (a) applied for the Employment Insurance benefits:
- (b) complied with the reporting requirements of Human Resources Development Canada and the University; and
- (c) qualified under the Employment Insurance Act for Employment Insurance benefits as determined by Human Resources Development Canada and supplementary benefits as outlined herein.

The Employee will be required to supply the Employer with proof that they qualify for Employment Insurance benefits and is in receipt of such benefits.

An Employee disentitled or disqualified from receiving benefits is not eligible for Supplementary Employment Benefits under this plan.

Benefit

The benefit payable by the University under the plan is a semi-monthly amount, which combined with the Employment Insurance benefit and any other earnings will equal 95% of the Employee's normal pay over the period of pregnancy leave. Benefits will be paid as per Article 32 of the Collective Agreement.

All amounts paid under the plan will be subject to normal income tax deductions.

Benefit Non-Entitlement

- 1. Total benefits (including the supplementary payment by the Employer) are not payable for any period in which the Employee is disqualified or disentitled from receipt of benefits under the Employment Insurance Act as determined by Human Resources Development Canada.
- Benefits are not payable if:
 - (a) the Employee has been dismissed or suspended without pay as per Article 19 of the Collective Agreement;
 - (b) the Employee has terminated her employment through resignation;
 - (c) an application is made during a period when the Employee is currently on strike, participating in picketing or concerted work interruption;
 - (d) the Employee is on an approved leave of absence without pay;
 - (e) the Employee is receiving Insurance benefits under the University's Long Term Disability plan.

Application for Benefits

Notice shall be provided to the Employer as per the Collective Agreement. Application should also be made at the same time to Human Resources Development Canada so that, if the Employee qualifies for benefits, they may commence at the commencement of the leave(s).

A claimant for benefits under this plan must sign an undertaking with the University on a prescribed form (see end of this Appendix) providing that:

- (a) s/he will return to work on the Working Day immediately following the expiry date of the leave(s), or any authorized extension thereof, and
- (b) s/he will remain in the employ of the University for at least an equivalent number of weeks as the period of paid leave following the return to work, and
- should s/he fail to return to work as provided under (a) above, the University, at its option, may require the employee to repay the full amount of the Supplementary Employment Benefits received during the entire period of the leave, and
- (d) should s/he leave the University's employ before the equivalent number of weeks of supplementary benefits have elapsed as provided under (c) above, the University, at its option, may require the employee to repay a proportion of such benefits equal to that proportion of the period in which the S.E.I.B benefits were provided and were not worked.

Benefit Adjustment

If the University determines that any benefit paid under the plan should not have been paid or should have been paid in a lesser amount, the amount of overpayment will be recovered from any subsequent benefit payable under the plan, or by making a deduction from any future monies payable by the University to the Employee.

Other Benefits

The Employee's portion of the applicable premiums and pension contributions would be deducted from the Supplementary Employment Benefit payments made by the University up to a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks.

Modifications

The University will inform Human Resources Development Canada of any changes in the plan within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the change.

Interpretation/Grievances

No question involving the interpretation or application of Human Resources Development Canada portion of the benefit will be subject to the formal grievance procedure provided for in the Collective Agreement between the University and NSGEU, acting as bargaining agent for the Employees covered by the plan.

NSGEU Pregnancy followed by Parental Leave Supplement to Employment Insurance Benefit (SUB) Program (to be submitted to Human Resources)

Employee Information	
Name (Please Print):	Employee Number:
Leave Information	
Leave of Absence for Maternity/Legal Adoption/Parental leave	e:
Start (MM/DD/YYYY) to End (MM/DD/YYYY) _	
Request for SUB Program Benefits & Return Service Co	mmitment

I am applying for benefits under the following SUB program option:

Receive 95% of regular salary from the employer for the Employment Insurance two (2) week waiting period AND receive a top up of Employment Insurance benefits for a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks in accordance with Article 32.06 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement for the remainder of the program period.

In applying for benefits under this program, I fully understand and acknowledge that:

My eligibility for receipt of the SUB Program benefit is subject to:

- 1. receipt of Employment Insurance Maternity/Parental Leave Benefits; and
- 2. my commitment to return to work at the end of my Maternity/Legal Adoption/Parental Leave for a period of at least seventeen (17) weeks thereafter (the number of weeks that I am in receipt of the SUB program benefits).

If I fail to meet the commitment to return to work at the end of my Maternity/Legal Adoption/Parental Leave the Employer, at its option, may require me to pay back program benefits as follows:

• in the event that I do not return to service with the Employer, an amount which equals all

benefits which I received under the SUB program; or,

• in the event that I return to work for only a portion of the required period of return service, an

amount which equals the amount of the benefits which I received under the SUB program for

those weeks for which I did not complete the service commitment

(e.g. If I received 17 weeks of benefit and only returned for 7 weeks, I would be obligated to

pay back 10/17ths of the total SUB program benefits received).

I am required to submit proof to the Payroll Department that I have been approved for, and am in

receipt of, Employment Insurance Maternity/Parental Leave Benefits through submission of copies of

the initial approval documentation, as well as subsequent Employment Insurance pay stubs once I am in receipt of these items from Service Canada.

The Payroll Department will process the SUB program benefits prior to my submission of the required EI documentation based on Service Canada's guidelines for Maternity/Legal Adoption/Parental Leave. If there is a discrepancy between the employer's SUB program (based on Service Canada's guidelines) and the EI documents that I have provided an adjustment to the SUB program benefits will be required.

In signing this application, I signal my understanding and acceptance of my obligations and the terms and conditions of participation in the SUB program and promise to repay the SUB program benefits received as provided above in the event I do not fulfill my return service commitment.

Employee Signature Date

(MM/DD/YYYY)

(MM/DD/YYYY)

Witness Signature Date

NSGEU Parental & Adoption Leave Supplement to Employment Insurance Benefit (SUB) Program (to be submitted to the Human Resources)

Employee Information	
Name (Please Print):	Employee Number:
Leave Information	
Leave of Absence for Parental leave:	
Start (MM/DD/YYYY) to End (M	IM/DD/YYYY)
Request for SUB Program Benefits & Retu	urn Service Commitment

I am applying to receive the SUB benefit program while I am in receipt of parental leave benefits under the terms of the Employment Insurance Act for a period of ten (10) weeks in accordance with Article 32.12 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

In applying for benefits under this program, I fully understand and acknowledge that:

My eligibility for receipt of the SUB Program benefit is subject to:

- 1. receipt of Employment Insurance Parental Leave Benefits; and
- 2. my commitment to return to work at the end of my Parental Leave for a period of at least ten (10) weeks thereafter (the number of weeks that I am in receipt of the SUB program benefits).

If I fail to meet the commitment to return to work at the end of my Parental Leave the Employer, at its option, may require me to pay back program benefits as follows:

• in the event that I do not return to service with the Employer, an amount which equals all

benefits which I received under the SUB program; or,

• in the event that I return to work for only a portion of the required period of return service, an

amount which equals the amount of the benefits which I received under the SUB program for

those weeks for which I did not complete the service commitment

(e.g. If I received 10 weeks of benefit and only returned for 7 weeks, I would be obligated to

pay back 3/10 ths of the total SUB program benefits received).

I am required to submit proof to the Payroll Department that I have been approved for, and am

receipt of, Employment Insurance Parental Leave Benefits through submission of copies of the initial approval documentation, as well as subsequent Employment Insurance pay stubs once I am in receipt of these items from Service Canada.

The Payroll Department will process the SUB program benefits prior to my submission of the required EI documentation based on Service Canada's guidelines for Parental Leave. If there is a discrepancy between the employer's SUB program (based on Service Canada's guidelines) and the EI documents that I have provided an adjustment to the SUB program benefits will be required.

terms and	understanding and acceptance of my obligations and the rogram and promise to repay the SUB program benefits
received as provided above in the event I do not ful	
Employee Signature Date	(MM/DD/YYYY)
Witness Signature Date	(MM/DD/YYYY)

APPENDIX "D" BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY FOR NSGEU EMPLOYEES

Employees who work a minimum of nine consecutive months per year and 25 hours per week are eligible for Disability, Life, Accident, Extended Health and Dental, EFAP and Travel Insurance plans at NSCAD University. Extended Health and Dental is mandatory unless proof of coverage elsewhere is provided.

<u>Disability Plans – with Manulife Financial (Mandatory membership for employees who are eligible):</u>

Short Term Disability coverage – after three months continuous employment; Long Term Disability coverage – after six months continuous employment

Life and Accident (Mandatory)

Life Insurance: after one month continuous employment Accidental Death & Dismemberment – after one month of continuous employment

Extended Health and Dental with Medavie Blue Cross (Optional for employees who are eligible): Employees can enroll immediately and are eligible to collect benefits after 30 days. (Employees who wish to join the Extended Health or Dental Plans should enroll within 30 days of being eligible, i.e. when they first commence working a minimum of 25 hours per week for 9 months per year)

Pension Plan - Defined Contribution with Manulife Financial

For regular full-time and part-time employees Pension Plan membership is mandatory after one year of employment.

Pension: For all other employees in accordance with provincial pension legislation.

Employee and Family Assistance Plan

Mandatory for regular full time and part-time employees after three months of continuous service through Sheppell FGI insurance.

Travel Insurance

Employees can enroll immediately and are eligible for travel insurance coverage after 30 days with SSQ Insurance.

Schedule 2 – SALARY RANGES

Pay Group	Position (NSGEU)
2	Store Clerk
	School Store Clerk
4	Admission and Recruitment
	Extended Studies, Program Asst
5	Admin Asst, Academic
	Admin Asst, Dean's Office
	Coordinator, Creative
	Entrepreneurship Lab
	Coordinator, Office of Opportunity and Belonging
	Coordinator, Registrarial Services
	Manitenance Technician
	Manitenance Technician
	(Academy)
	Officer,Financial Services
	Recruitment Officer
	Service Ctre, Supervisor
	FM-Port - Maintenance
6	Academic Advisor
	Coordinator, Facilities Services
	IT, Support
	Writing Centre Coordinator
7	Financial Aid & Award Specialist
8	IT, Systems Administrator
9	Accessibiity Learning Strategist

NSGEU Salary Scale – July 1, 2023 1.025

Group	Step	Α	В	С	D	E
•	2	\$32,230.39	\$33,203.61	\$34,176.82	\$35,150.05	\$36,123.26
	3	\$35,575.39	\$36,651.86	\$37,728.31	\$38,804.77	\$39,881.22
	4	\$38,921.78	\$40,104.23	\$41,286.68	\$42,469.13	\$43,651.58
	5	\$42,266.78	\$43,553.85	\$44,840.91	\$46,127.98	\$47,415.04
	6	\$45,611.77	\$47,003.46	\$48,395.14	\$49,786.83	\$51,178.52
	7	\$48,956.79	\$50,453.08	\$51,949.39	\$53,445.69	\$54,942.00
	8	\$52,303.17	\$53,905.46	\$55,507.75	\$57,110.06	\$58,712.35
	9	\$55,646.78	\$57,355.07	\$59,063.37	\$60,771.65	\$62,479.94
	10	\$58,991.78	\$60,804.69	\$62,617.60	\$64,430.51	\$66,243.41
	11	\$62,336.95	\$64,254.83	\$66,172.70	\$68,090.58	\$70,008.43
		\$17.71	\$18.24	\$18.78	\$19.31	\$19.85
26.01 (a)	Group 2	\$34,050.39	\$35,023.61	\$35,996.82	\$36,970.05	\$37.943.26

NSGEU Salary Scale – July 1, 2024 1.03

Group	Step	Α	В	С	D	E
_	2	\$33,197.30	\$34,199.72	\$35,202.13	\$36,204.55	\$37,206.95
	3	\$36,642.65	\$37,751.41	\$38,860.16	\$39,968.91	\$41,077.66
	4	\$40,089.44	\$41,307.36	\$42,525.28	\$43,743.21	\$44,961.13
	5	\$43,534.78	\$44,860.46	\$46,186.14	\$47,511.82	\$48,837.50
	6	\$46,980.13	\$48,413.56	\$49,846.99	\$51,280.44	\$52,713.87
	7	\$50,425.49	\$51,966.68	\$53,507.87	\$55,049.06	\$56,590.26
	8	\$53,872.26	\$55,522.62	\$57,172.98	\$58,823.36	\$60,473.72
	9	\$57,316.18	\$59,075.73	\$60,835.27	\$62,594.79	\$64,354.34
	10	\$60,761.54	\$62,628.83	\$64,496.13	\$66,363.42	\$68,230.72
	11	\$64,207.06	\$66,182.48	\$68,157.88	\$70,133.29	\$72,108.69

NSGEU Salary Scale – July 1, 2025 1.03

Group	Step	Α	В	С	D	E
	2	\$34,193.22	\$35,225.71	\$36,258.19	\$37,290.69	\$38,323.16
	3	\$37,741.93	\$38,883.96	\$40,025.97	\$41,167.98	\$42,309.99
	4	\$41,292.12	\$42,546.58	\$43,801.04	\$45,055.50	\$46,309.96
	5	\$44,840.82	\$46,206.28	\$47,571.72	\$48,937.18	\$50,302.62
	6	\$48,389.53	\$49,865.97	\$51,342.40	\$52,818.85	\$54,295.29
	7	\$51,938.26	\$53,525.68	\$55,113.11	\$56,700.54	\$58,287.97
	8	\$55,488.43	\$57,188.30	\$58,888.17	\$60,588.06	\$62,287.93
	9	\$59,035.67	\$60,848.00	\$62,660.33	\$64,472.64	\$66,284.97
	10	\$62,584.38	\$64,507.70	\$66,431.01	\$68,354.32	\$70,277.64
	11	\$66,133.27	\$68,167.95	\$70,202.62	\$72,237.29	\$74,271.95

NSGEU Salary Scale – July 1, 2026 1.025

Group	Step	Α	В	С	D	E
	2	\$35,048.05	\$36,106.36	\$37,164.64	\$38,222.95	\$39,281.24
	3	\$38,685.48	\$39,856.05	\$41,026.62	\$42,197.18	\$43,367.74
	4	\$42,324.42	\$43,610.24	\$44,896.07	\$46,181.89	\$47,467.71
	5	\$45,961.84	\$47,361.44	\$48,761.02	\$50,160.61	\$51,560.19
	6	\$49,599.27	\$51,112.62	\$52,625.96	\$54,139.32	\$55,652.67
	7	\$53,236.71	\$54,863.82	\$56,490.93	\$58,118.05	\$59,745.17
	8	\$56,875.64	\$58,618.01	\$60,360.37	\$62,102.76	\$63,845.13
	9	\$60,511.56	\$62,369.20	\$64,226.84	\$66,084.45	\$67,942.09
	10	\$64,148.99	\$66,120.39	\$68,091.79	\$70,063.18	\$72,034.58
	11	\$67,786.61	\$69,872.15	\$71,957.68	\$74,043.22	\$76,128.74

Memorandum of Agreement - Pension and Benefits

- (a) The parties agree continue to follow through with the review of the Pension plan and feasibility study that is currently underway and will meet to decide whether to keep the pension plan status quo or *attempt* to transition to the Public Service Superannuation Plan (PSSP). The transition to the PSSP is conditional on mutual agreement of the Parties and subject to the conditions for entry under the Plan.
- (b) The parties agree during the Term of this Agreement to review the existing benefit plan to determine whether changes are possible that would allow for a Health Spending Account (HSA) or increased extended benefits. Any change to the employee benefits is conditional on mutual agreement of both parties.
- (c) Due to the government change in legislation requiring employers who participate in the EI rebate program to reduce waiting periods to no more than 7 calendar days by 2021 it is agreed that: Employees in the bargaining unit prior to December 31, 2020 with less than five (5) year's service who access short-term disability and who do not proceed to long term disability, upon their return, the University will reimburse the difference in their first week STD payment and their normal wage (15%) provided they would have had sufficient sick leave at the time of illness to cover the first week of STD had it been part of the qualifying period.